Division of Pathology Department of Laboratory Medicine Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, Sweden

# STUDIES ON MESOTHELIAL DIFFERENTIATION PROGNOSTIC AND THERAPEUTIC APPROACHES TO MALIGNANT MESOTHELIOMA

Xiaojuan Sun



Stockholm 2005

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Published and printed by Karolinska University Press Box 200, SE-171 77 Stockholm, Sweden © Xiaojuan Sun, 2005 ISBN 91-7140-513-5

## HOPE

"Hope is the companion of power, and the mother of success; for who so hopes strongly, has within him the gift of miracles."

-- Samuel Smile

# ABSTRACT

Malignant mesothelioma (MM), a tumor with a poor prognosis, causes the death of most patients within a year of diagnosis since various treatments seem to have little effect on its outcome. The biological behavior of MM varies greatly, and this heterogeneity is related to its morphology, which may be epithelioid, sarcomatoid (fibroblastoid) or biphasic, the sarcomatoid phenotype being associated with a shorter survival. The mechanisms by which the MM cells differentiate into epithelioid or fibroblastoid phenotypes are largely unknown.

We used a MM cell line that, depending on the serum supplementation, differentiates into sublines with two phenotypes, the epithelioid STAV-AB and fibroblastoid STAV-FCS. A similar variability in growth phenotype can also be seen in benign mesothelial cells that have exfoliated into effusions. In short-term cultures, such cells may grow with a fibroblastoid or epithelioid morphology. The growth patterns obtained remain stable during several passages and the benign and malignant cells can be used as *in vitro* models when studying mechanisms of mesothelial differentiation.

The aims of the present study were to determine the candidate genes involved in the differentiation of benign and malignant mesothelium. This was done by using Suppression Subtractive Hybridization (SSH) and Microarray techniques, and the findings were confirmed *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Such screening of gene expressions may be of value in finding diagnostic markers and targets for novel treatments of MM.

Both the benign and malignant epithelioid cells expressed more genes related to specialized functions associated with metabolism, cellular defense, apoptosis and differentiation, while those related to growth factors and their receptors were more abundantly expressed in the sarcomatoid phenotype. These findings accord with the view that the fibroblastoid cell type represents a less differentiated stage than the epithelioid ones.

Our data indicate that the different tumor phenotypes use different driving mechanisms, and the heterogeneity of the tumor may therefore be one explanation for the poor response to chemotherapy. A better response might be expected if targets were selected according to the individual phenotypes. The targeting of two differentiation-associated functions induced apoptosis *in vitro*.

The thioredoxin/thioredoxin reductase (Trx/TR) system was differentially expressed, although extremely large amounts were present in both cell sublines. This may make the cells particularly sensitive to selenite, and this salt reduced the cell viability of MM cells, especially in those with fibroblast-like phenotype. A combination with doxorubicin was synergistic, and markedly affected on both cell phenotypes. A similar induction of apoptosis occurred in the epithelioid cells, after giving proteasome inhibitor (PSI). Here the dose- and time- dependent sensitivity were mainly confined to cells with an epithelioid morphology. Selenite and proteasome inhibitors are potentially new contributions for the treatment of MM.

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals (I-V).

- Sun Xj\*, Dobra K\*, Björnstedt M, and Hjerpe A. Upregulation of 9 genes, including that for thioredoxin, during epithelial differentiation of mesothelioma cells. Differentiation, 2000; 66:181-188.
- II. Sun Xj\*, Gulyás M\*, and Hjerpe A.
   Differentiation of benign mesothelial cells as reflected by differential gene expression in fibroblastic and epithelioid phenotypes.
   Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 2004; 30:510-518.
- III. Sun Xj, Wei L, Liden J, Hui G, Dahlman-Wright K, Hjerpe A, and Dobra K. Molecular characterization of tumor heterogeneity and malignant mesothelioma cell differentiation by gene profiling. J Pathol. 2005; 207(1):91-101.
- IV. Sun Xj, Gulyás M, Hjerpe A, and Dobra K. Proteasome inhibitors induce apoptosis in human mesothelioma cells. Cancer Letter, in press, 2005.
- V. Nilsonne G, Sun Xj, Nyström C, Rundlöf A-K, Björnstedt M, and Dobra K.

Doxorubicin-resistant sarcomatoid malignant mesothelioma cells are highly sensitive to selenite – a novel therapeutic approach related to tumor cell differentiation and the thioredoxin system. Int J Cancer, submitted for publication.

\* Equal first authorship (Papers I and II)

# CONTENTS

1	BACKGROUND	1
	1.1 MESOTHELIUM: DIFFERENTIATION AND REGENERATION	1
	1.1.1 DIFFERENTIATION	1
	1.1.2 REGENERATION	2
	1.2 MALIGNANT MESOTHELIOMA	2
	1.2.1 DIFFERENTIATION AND MORPHOLOGY	2
	1.2.2 CYTOGENETIC AND MOLECULAR CHANGES IN	
	MESOTHELIOMA	3
	1.2.2.1 Cytogenetic changes induced by asbestos	3
	1.2.2.2 Molecular changes	4
	1.2.2.3 Simian virus 40 (SV40)	5
	1.2.3 DIAGNOSIS AND THERAPY – THE PROBLEM OF DRUG	
	RESISTANCE	
	1.2.3.1 Diagnosis	
	1.2.3.2 Therapy	
	1.2.3.2.1 Innovative and experimental treatments	
	1.2.3.2.2 Conventional therapies	
	1.2.3.3 Drug resistance	
	1.2.3.3.1 Free radicals and antioxidant enzymes (AOEs)	
	1.2.3.3.2 Membrane pump extrusion of chemotherapeutic agents	7
	1.2.3.3.3 Expression of multidrug resistance genes and multidrug	7
	resistance-associated proteins	
	1.2.4 PROGNOSIS	δ
	1.3 APOPTOSIS	
	1.3.1 INDUCTION OF APOPTOSIS	
	1.3.2 RESISTANCE TO APOPTOSIS	9
	1.4 POSSIBLE NEW TARGETS	10
	1.4.1 THE THIOREDOXIN (Trx) SYSTEM	10
	1.4.2 PROTEASOME	
•		13
2	PRESENT INVESTIGATION	13
	2.1 AIMS	13
	2.2 SCREENING APPROACHES FOR MESOTHELIAL CELL	
	DIFFERENTIATION	
	2.2.1 SUPPRESSION SUBTRACTIVE HYBRIDIZATION (SSH)	
	2.2.2 MICROARRAY	
	2.2.3 REAL-TIME RT-PCR	14
	2.3 APOPTOSIS ASSAYS	15
	2.3.1 MORPHOLOGICAL ANALYSIS	15
	2.3.2 CASPASE-3 ACTIVATION	15

	2.3.3	FACS ANALYSIS	15
	2.4	SSH EXPERIMENT (Papers I and II)	16
	2.5	MICROARRAY (Paper III)	16
	2.6 and V]	POSSIBLE NEW TARGETS FOR MESOTHELIOMA THERAPY [papers I 17	V
3	DIS	CUSSION	19
4	CON	NCLUSIONs	21
5	ACH	KNOWLEDGMENTS	23
6	REF	TERENCES	25

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Adp16INK4A	p16INK4A in adenoviral vectors
AIF	Apoptosis-inducing factor
Annexin V-FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate conjugated antibody to Annexin V
AOEs	Antioxidant enzymes
Apaf-1	Apoptotic protease activating factor-1
APEX1	APEX nuclease (multifunctional DNA repair enzyme) 1
AR	Aldose reductase
Bax	Proapoptotic protein
BIN1	Bridging integrator 1
BMP4	Bone morphogenetic protein 4
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CBP2	Collagen binding protein 2
CCNB1	Cyclin B1
CCND1	Cyclin D1
CD24	CD24 antigen
CDH2	Cadherin 2, type 1, N-cadherin
CDK2	cyclin-dependent kinase 2
CDK4	cyclin-dependent kinase 4
CDKN3	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 3
CDKs	cyclin dependent kinases
CENPA	Centromere protein A, 17kDa
CK7	Cytokeratin 7
CK8	Cytokeratin 8
CKs	Cytokeratins
CTSD	Cathepsin D
CYP1B1	Cytochrome P450, subfamily I
DAB2	Disabled homolog 2, mitogen-responsive phosphoprotein
DIG	Digoxigenin
DP1	Likely ortholog of mouse deleted in polyposis 1
DTNB	5´dithiobis(nitrobenzoic acid)
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EIF2S1	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2, subunit 1 alpha
EIF5	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 5
EPS8	Epidermal growth factor pathway substrate 8
FACS	Fluorescence-Activated Cell sorter
FasL	Fas ligand
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FGFR1	Fibroblast growth factor receptor 1
gamma GCS	Gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GPx	Glutathione peroxidase
Gran	Granulin
GSH	Glutathione
GSSG	Oxidized GSH

GST	Glutathione S-transferases
H2AFO	H2A histone family, member O
HA	hyaluronan
HCgp39	Human cartilage glycoprotein 39
HGF	hepatocyte growth factor
HIF1A	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1, alpha subunit
HPCE	High-performance capillary electrophoresis
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
ΙκΒ	Inhibitor of nuclear factor kB
IAD-1	Human inhibitor of apoptosis protein-1 gene
$IC_{50}$	Inhibitory concentration 50%
IER3	Immediate early response 3
IFI16	Interferon, gamma-inducible protein 16
IFI27	Interferon alpha-inducible protein 27
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IGFBP3	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3
IGFBP6	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 6
IGFBP7	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 7
IL18	Interleukin 18
IL18 IL1R1	Interleukin 1 receptor, type I
ILTΚI Int α5	Integrin $\alpha 5$
ITGB5	Integrin, beta 5
ITPR3	
KRT5	Inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor, type 3 Keratin 5
LCAT	
	Lecithin:cholesterol acyltransferase
LLnL	N-acetyl-leucyl-norleucinal
LTBP1	Latent Transforming growth factor beta binding protein1 MCM7 minichromosome maintenance deficient 7
MCM7 MDK	MCM7 minichromosome maintenance dencient 7 Midkine
MDM2	Mouse double minute 2 homolog isoform, p53-binding protein
MDR-1	Multi-drug-resistance gene
MM Mr. SOD	Malignant mesothelioma
Mn-SOD	Manganese superoxide dismutase
MRP	Multidrug resistance-associated protein
MRP1 & 2 MT3	Multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 and 2 Matallathianain 2 (growth inhibitory factor)
-	Metallothionein 3 (growth inhibitory factor) Mucin 1, transmembrane
MUC1	
MYCBP N33	C-myc binding protein
NaDOC	Tumor suppressor candidate 3
	Sodium deoxycholate Sodium azide
NaN3	
NAPD	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate
NAPDH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate, reduced form
NF2	Neurofibromatosis gene 2
NFKB	Nuclear factor kappa B
NFKBIA	Nuclear factor of kappa light polypeptide gene enhancer in B-
NDC1	cell inhibitor, alpha Niamann Bick diagaga, tung Cl
NPC1	Niemann-Pick disease, type C1

NPCAP	Nuclear pore complex-associated protein TPR
p14(ARF)	ARF tumor suppressor protein p14
p15(INK4b)	Tumor suppressor protein p15(INK4b), cyclin-dependent
	kinase inhibitor 2B, inhibits CDK4
p16(INK4a)	Tumor suppressor protein p16(INK4a), cyclin-dependent
	kinase inhibitor 2A, inhibits CDK4
p21WAF1/CIP1	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1A
p27(kip1)	Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1B
PA28 beta	Proteasome activator subunit 2
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDGF-A & -B	Platelet derived growth factors-A & B
PDGFRB	Platelet-derived growth factor receptor, beta polypeptide
P-GP	Phosphoglycoprotein
PI	Propidium iodide
PIGF	Phosphatidylinositolglycan, class F
РКС	Protein kinase C
PMS2L9	Postmeiotic segregation increased 2-like 9
pRb	Protein of retinoblastoma tumor suppressor gene
PRKCL1	Protein kinase C-like 1
PSI	N-carbobenzoxy-L-isoleucyl-L- $\gamma$ -t-butyl-L-gultamyl-alanyl-L-
	leucinal
PSMA3	Proteasome subunit, alpha type, 3
PSMA4	Proteasome subunit, alpha type, 4
PTPRK	Protein tyrosine phosphatase receptor type, K
PTPRM	Protein tyrosine phosphatase, receptor type, M
RARRES1	Retinoic acid receptor responder 1
RARS	Arginyl-tRNA synthetase
Real-time RT-	Real-Time Reverse Transcriptase Polymerase Chain Reaction
PCR	
RFC4	Replication factor C 4, 37kDa
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RRAS	Related RAS viral (r-ras) oncogene homolog
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SDS-PAGE	SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SSH	Suppression subtractive hybridization
STMN1	Stathmin 1/oncoprotein
SV40	Simian virus 40
SV40 Tag	SV40 early region T antigen
TAF9	TAF9 RNA polymerase II, TATA box binding protein-
	associated factor, 32 kDa
TCEA2	Transcription elongation factor A (SII), 2
TGF-α	Transforming growth factor- $\alpha$
TGFB1	Transforming growth factor, beta 1
THBS2	Thrombospondin 2
TIMP3	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 3
TM 5	Thrombomodulin
1 1 1 1	momounium

TM4SF1	Transmembrane 4 superfamily member 1
TNF-α	Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$
TrxR/TR	Thioredoxin reductase
TRA1	Tumor rejection antigen (gp96) 1
TRAIL	Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand
Trx	Thioredoxin
UBE2C	Ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme E2C
UPP	Ubiquitin/proteasome pathway
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WT1	Wilms' tumor suppressor gene 1
YES1	V-yes-1 Yamaguchi sarcoma viral oncogene homolog 1

# 1 BACKGROUND

Benign mesothelial cells may grow as fibroblast-like cells in a stroma or as flattened epithelioid cells covering the surfaces of the serosal cavities- i.e., in the cavities surrounding the lungs, heart and abdominal organs and the tissue forming the tunica vaginalis testis. Both phenotypes are closely related. Malignant mesothelioma (MM) is a type of cancer in which mesothelial cells become malignant. It may affect any mesothelium (Bignon J, et al, 1993), the vast majority of cases being found in the pleura. MM usually retains the same growth pattern as the original benign mesothelium, growing with either of epithelioid or fibroblastoid morphology or mixtures thereof. The mechanisms underlying regulation of differentiation of mesothelial and mesothelioma cells are still poorly understood.

The development of MM is related to exposure to fibrous minerals, such as asbestos. Although rare in unexposed subjects, the common use of asbestos has increased the incidence of MM in industrialized and developing countries. On the basis of known exposures, this incidence is expected to increase (Nicholson WJ, 1982; Britton M, 2002) over the next 30 years and to cause 250,000 deaths in Western Europe (Peto J, et al, 1999). MM is frequently difficult to diagnose, inaccessible to curative surgery, and responds poorly to radiotherapy or chemotherapy (Sterman DH, et al, 1999). With the exception of a smaller number of slow growing tumors, the prognosis of MM is extremely bad with few patients surviving more than one year, regardless of treatment (Sugarbaker DJ, et al, 2002).

In view of this, management of MM needs to be improved by acquiring more knowledge about the pathogenesis and molecular biology of MM. Gene expression profiling, especially differential gene expression analysis using microarray, has permitted the molecular characterization of different cancers, including MM (Mohr S, et al, 2002; 2004). Applied to cell lines, microarray analysis has shown that several genes may control MM progression (Kettunen E, et al, 2001).

## 1.1 MESOTHELIUM: DIFFERENTIATION AND REGENERATION

## 1.1.1 DIFFERENTIATION

The mesothelium develops from the mesodermal plate and its coelomic cavity (Sadler TW, 1985). The two cell types in this tissue have different morphologies: (1) a monolayer of epithelioid cells on the surface, resting on a basement membrane that separates them from the underlying stroma and (2) fibroblast-like cells embedded in an extracellular matrix. The former cells express both epithelial markers, such as cytokeratins (CKs), and mesenchymal markers, such as vimentin, while the CKs are less apparent in the scattered quiescent fibroblast-like cells. When the latter cells are exposed to certain stimuli, they may acquire epithelial markers and a less marked expression of vimentin (Bolen JW, et al, 1986; Hammer and McNutt SP, 1987). It has been debated whether these cells should be classified as epithelial or mesenchymal, but they are now considered mesenchymal, since both cell types use N-Cadherin as the main adhesion molecule (Peralta Soler A, et al, 1995; Simsir A, et al. 1999; Davidson B, et al, 2001).

Functionally, the mesothelium is a dynamic cellular membrane with many important functions. It has long been known that the production of a special lubricating fluid

enables the organs to slide without friction against each other. These cells are also ascribed some important roles including the transport and movement of fluid, and the secretion of bioactive substances, such as pro-inflammatory cytokines and growth factors. They also synthesize the components of the extracellular matrix, whereby they maintain the integrity of the tissue in a way that also favors serosal repair (Mutsaers SE, 2002).

## 1.1.2 REGENERATION

The regulatory mechanisms, which underly the rapid regeneration and healing of mesothelial injury are disputed. It has long been assumed that such an injury should stimulate the resident fibroblast-like cells in the underlying subserosal stroma to proliferate, differentiate, and migrate to the surface where they cover the defect, and acquire epithelioid characteristics (Ellis H, et al, 1965; Raftery AF, 1973). However, much of the regenerating mesothelium originates directly from the surrounding epithelioid surface cells, and less often from fibroblast-like cells (Mutsaers SE, 2000) although both these cell types can be the source of regeneration, depending on whether the basement membrane is intact. If a deeper injury penetrates this membrane, the fibroblast-like cells participate in healing and may differentiate into epithelioid ones. The close relationship between these two phenotypes is also obvious during growth of these cells *in vitro*, when cells with an epithelioid phenotype may also change to a fibroblast-like growth pattern (Klominek J, et al, 1989).

Mesothelial regeneration requires the recruitment of inflammatory cells to the wound surface and the release of mitogenic cytokines to activate and stimulate proliferation around the wound (Fotev Z, et al, 1987; Mutsaers SE, et al, 1997). Activated mesothelial cells then break their cell-to-cell contacts and migrate onto the wound's surface (Whitaker D and Papadimitriou JM, 1985). Recent evidence suggests that hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) plays an important role in this process, since it is secreted by the epithelioid surface (Warn R, et al, 2001) and adjacent fibroblast-like cells (Yashiro M, et al, 1996).

## 1.2 MALIGNANT MESOTHELIOMA

## 1.2.1 DIFFERENTIATION AND MORPHOLOGY

Malignant mesotheliomas (MMs) have many histological features and the malignant mesothelium may show two main types of growth pattern: epithelioid or fibroblast-like, reflecting the benign precursor tissue. MMs may consist of only one of these cell types, - i.e., an epithelioid or sarcomatoid MMs - or both kinds of cells are present in the same tumor, which is common – i.e., a mixed or biphasic tumor. Although a malignant tumor is frequently assumed to have a monoclonal origin, many mutations or deletions have occurred before the tissue is available for diagnosis. By then the genetic material in a MM is very heterogeneous. The finding that MM cells *in vitro* may change their morphology because of external factors, however, suggests that the difference in phenotype is not necessarily an expression of additional mutations (Klominek J, et al, 1989).

The epithelioid tumor cell type is usually recognized on histological examination, while the fibroblastoid tumor cells can be difficult to distinguish from reactive stromal cells. In some studies, the entirely epithelioid tumor has been reported to be the commonest (up to 70% of the cases), but the percentage of mixed type increases with the size of the

tumor tissue on which the diagnosis is based, and entirely sarcomatoid MMs are less common (7-20%) (Roberts GH, 1970; Johansson L and Linden CJ, 1996).

The growth patterns of well-differentiated epithelioid forms vary from papillary, solid, vacuolated, or tubular. The cells are more or less pleomorphic with large nuclei, prominent nucleoli and eosinophilic cytoplasm. Other features commonly include frequent mitoses, an irregular chromatin pattern, and multinucleated tumor cells (Kawai T, et al, 1981; Kwee WS, et al, 1982; Adams VI, et al, 1986). At the ultrastructural level, these cells have a characteristic appearance with long slender microvilli that lack a glycocalyx and may occupy cytoplasmic or intercellular neolumina.

The sarcomatous form of MM most often resembles a fibrosarcoma mainly with spindle- or ovoid-shaped cells, creating a storiform. Multinucleated atypical cells may be seen. The cells of the well-differentiated forms often mimic reactive fibroblasts and can be difficult to distinguish from fibromatoses. Ultrastructurally, these fibroblast-like cells are less characteristic. They may express sparse microvilli, whose close relation to collagen fibers may be diagnostic.

A mixed or biphasic growth pattern with epithelial and mesenchymal elements is commonest, although the percentages of the two subtypes usually differ and their distribution is not uniform. The identification of both these elements, which are malignant, is virtually diagnostic of malignant mesothelioma. However, an adenocarcinoma frequently stimulates its stroma, sometimes to such an extent that the tissue imitates this biphasic growth pattern. In many cases, it then becomes necessary to use other diagnostic methods – e.g., histochemistry, immohistochemistry, and electron microscopy to distinguish between MMs and adenocarcinomas (Warhol MJ, 1982).

#### 1.2.2 CYTOGENETIC AND MOLECULAR CHANGES IN MESOTHELIOMA

#### 1.2.2.1 Cytogenetic changes induced by asbestos

The main known causative factor for MMs is exposure to asbestos fibers (Wagner JC, et al, 1960; Craighead JE and Mossman BT, 1982). Asbestos consists of a group of minerals that occur naturally as masses of strong, flexible fibers, which can be separated, into thin woven threads. It has been widely used in many industrial products. These tiny asbestos particles, especially the thin, rod-like amphiboles float in air and they may be inhaled or swallowed. When inhaled, these small fibers reach the alveoli, where they may penetrate into the pleural cavity, and collect near the mesothelial cells (Boutin C, et al, 1996).

Various oncogenic mechanisms have been suggested. First, the asbestos fibers may act directly on the mesothelioma cells and mechanically disturb the mitotic spindle apparatus, which can lead to karyotypic aberrations (Ault JG, et al, 1995). On the other hand, they may initiate the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that cause mutations. The inflammatory response to asbestos particles may also be involved including the generation of cytokines, which affect cell replication and differentiation (Mossman BT, et al, 1996). The induction of the proto-oncogenes c-fos and c-jun, which encode transcription factors, that activate various genes important in the initiation of DNA synthesis (Heintz NH, et al, 1993) also seems to play an important role in the development of MM.

*In vitro* studies have shown that exposure to asbestos, especially amphibole fibers > 10 microns, may activate oncogenes and /or loss of suppressor genes (Barrett JC, et al,

1989). Indeed, karyotypic analyses of human mesotheliomas have demonstrated that frequent abnormalities are common, especially those involving chromosomes 1, 3, 6, 9, 13, 15, and 22 (Barrett JC, et al, 1989; Gibas Z, et al, 1986; Mossman BT, et al, 1990; Popescu NC, et al, 1988). One of the most common nonrandom changes is a deletion of the short arm of chromosome 3 in the region between p14 and p21 (Popescu NC, et al, 1988; Petursdottir TE, et al, 2004). In these patients a significant correlation exists between chromosomal aberrations and the pulmonary asbestos fiber burden, and an inverse correlation between the survival time and the number of copies of chromosome 7 short arms (Tiainen M, et al. 1989). Recent comparative genomic hybridization in MMs has also shown the loss of chromosomes 14, 15, and 22, and a gain of chromosome 7 (Baser ME, 2002). Karyotyping, such as with chromosome-specific FISH probes, can therefore be of a diagnostic value in distinguishing mesotheliomas from benign, proliferating mesothelium, which typically has no cytogenetic abnormalities.

#### 1.2.2.2 Molecular changes

The protein p16INK4a (p16) is the product of the p16/CDKN2A gene at 9p21, which can bind to the cyclin-dependent kinase CDK4 and inhibits the catalytic activity of the CDK4/cyclin D enzymes (Serrano M, et al, 1993), and CDK4-mediated phosphorylation of pRB (Geradts J, et al, 1995). The genomic polymerase chain reaction has shown that a homozygous deletion of p16 is a frequent finding in mesothelioma cell lines and MMs. At the transcript level, the expression of p16 is markedly downregulated also in MM cell lines that do not have such homozygous deletions of this gene (Cheng JQ, et al. 1994) and immunohistochemistry shows that the synthesized p16INK4a protein is abnormal (Kratzke RA, et al, 1995). Moreover, reexpression of p16INK4a in MM cells causes cell cycle arrest and cell death, inhibits the formation and growth of a tumor, reduces the size of a tumor and its spread in MM xenograft experiments (Frizelle SP, et al, 1998), which would suggest that p16INK4a gene transfer might be a specific target for the novel treatment of mesotheliomas.

The ARF tumor suppressor protein p14 (ARF), encoded by the INK4a/ARF locus, is a major mediator of p53 activation in response to oncogenic stress (Stott FJ, et al, 1998; Palmero I, et al, 1998; 2002). It promotes degradation of the MDM2 protein and therefore prevents the MDM2-mediated inhibition of p53. Homozygous deletions of the INK4a/ARF locus may therefore cause inactivation of p53 and the loss of p14(ARF), such deletions are common in MMs (Yang CT, et al, 2000). Since p14(ARF) and p16(INK4a) are found in the same locus, they can be lost simultaneously. The elimination of these two tumor suppressor proteins would then affect the regulation of the pRb and p53 pathways. The p53 and pRb proteins are essential regulators of the genes involved in cell cycle arrest (like p21WAF1/CIP) at the G1-S checkpoint, a result of DNA damage. The p53 may also initiate apoptosis by activating genes, such as Bax. The loss of both p53 and pRb functions will therefore severely affect the genetic stability of the cell. Mutations of the p53 gene resulting in nonfunctional protein products are sometimes found in MMs, although this is considered to be a late mutation in these tumors (Cote RJ, et al, 1991; Metcalf RA, et al, 1992).

WT1 (Wilms' tumor suppressor gene) is normally expressed in mesothelium and has been found to be mutated in some MMs (Park S, et al, 1993; Walker C, et al, 1994). It is noteworthy that the WT1 protein can form a complex with p53 (Maheswaran S, et al,

1993) and downregulates the cyclin/CDK-complexes that interact with the protein products of pRB and p53 (Kudoh T, et al, 1995).

Merlin, the protein product of neurofibromatosis gene 2 (NF2), belongs to a family of proteins that link cytoskeletal elements to the plasma membrane of the cell (Trofatter JA, 1993; Haase VH, 1994). This protein may play a role in signal transduction from the cell membrane to the nucleus. NF2, a tumor suppressor gene on chromosome 22q, has been associated with the development of familial and spontaneous tumors of neuroectodermal origin. Mutations of NF2 cause neurofibromatosis and these are also common in MMs. They include deletions, insertions, and a nonsense mutation, all of which predict truncation of the protein product of NF2 (Bianchi AB, et al, 1995).

High expressions of platelet-derived growth factors (PDGF-A and -B chains), insulinlike growth factor-1 (IGF-1), IGF-binding protein 3, IGF-1 receptor, and the low expression of transforming growth factor-a (TGF- $\alpha$ ) have all been shown in MM, which would suggest that PDGF and IGF-1 may have an autocrine effect on these tumors (Gerwin BI, et al, 1987; Gabrielson EW, et al, 1987; Lee TC, et al, 1993). Recent studies concerning the expression of EGFR have shown that one (3%) of 30 reactive mesothelial proliferations and 17 (45%) of 39 mesotheliomas expressed this receptor (Cai YC, et al, 2004). The use of EGFR as a diagnostic marker for MM has been suggested, and the findings may also indicate an additional therapeutic option.

#### 1.2.2.3 Simian virus 40 (SV40)

SV40, a DNA tumor virus of the papovavirus family, is oncogenic in animal species, but it has not been thought to infect human cells. When injected intrapleurally in hamsters, it induced mesotheliomas (Carbone M, et al, 1999; Cicala C, et al, 1993). The SV40 DNA oncogenicity is associated with its large T antigen (Pass H, et al, 1998; Testa JR, et al, 1998). The protein coded by this gene inhibits p53 and pRb (Carbone M, et al, 1997; De Luca A, et al, 1997), and it has been suggested that SV40 may act as a cofactor promoting asbestos-related oncogenesis. Recent studies have shown the presence and expression of SV40 in human MMs, and it has been suspected that the source of such an infection was contaminated polio vaccines (Carbone M, et al, 1994). This is still debated; the reported percentages of MMs carrying SV40 DNA differ considerably, and they seem to be very low in some areas, including the Nordic countries (Priftakis P, et al, 2002).

## 1.2.3 DIAGNOSIS AND THERAPY – THE PROBLEM OF DRUG RESISTANCE

#### 1.2.3.1 Diagnosis

In many cases, the diagnosis of mesothelioma is difficult, the two main differential diagnoses being metastatic adenocarcinoma and reactive pleuritis. The feasibility of treatment is determined on the basis of the histological or cytological examination of tissue samples, which can be obtained in various ways (Stamat JC, et al, 1999). The diagnosis cannot be regarded as complete without about the histological findings with identification of a malignant mesothelium and its histological type- i.e., epithelioid, sarcomatous or mixed.

An effusion (pleural, pericardial, ascitic) is commonly the first sign of a mesothelioma. It is usually sent for cytological examination, which makes cytology the first step in

making the diagnosis (Kho-Duffin J, et al, 1999; Reis-Filho JS, et al, 2002). Pleural mesothelioma is difficult to distinguish from metastatic adenocarcinoma, but the diagnosis greatly affects the treatment and an incorrect diagnosis of a metastatic condition may avert a long and costly search for a nonexistent primary lesion. However, the cytological material rarely permits a specific diagnosis of a MM at routine examination. To distinguish mesotheliomas from metastatic cancer, other methods, such as immunohistochemistry (Wirth PR, et al, 1991; Dejmek A and Hjerpe A, 1994; Brockstedt U, et al, 2000; Carella R, et al, 2001) and electron microscopy (Suzuki Y, 1980; Warhol MJ, et al, 1982), may be of value. The levels of hyaluronan (HA) in effusions is often high in MMs, pathognomonic values being found in about 60% of the cases, and the analysis of this carbohydrate, using HPLC (Hjerpe A, 1986; Nurminen M, et al, 1994) or HPCE (Karamanos NK and Hjerpe A, 1997), can also provide ancillary diagnostic information.

#### 1.2.3.2 Therapy

At present, MM cannot be cured. Various treatment protocols have been evaluated, most of which require combinations of chemotherapy. The commonest methods include combinations of chemotherapeutic agents with response rates of about 30% (Ryan CW, et al, 1998, Green MR, 2002). A multimodality approach has been reported- e.g., radical surgery (Treasure T, 2004) with chemotherapy, and radiotherapy (Sugarbaker DJ, 1999; Jaklitch MT, et al, 2001). Radical surgery (pleuropulmectomy) is sometimes considered when the morphological phenotype is an epithelioid mesothelioma. When surgery is combined with extensive radiotherapy that includes the lowest parts of the pleura, considerable improvements have been obtained as regards the risk of a local recurrence (Ahamad A, et al, 2003). The latter approach may increase the importance of early detection. The ability to diagnose MM with cytology on the basis of the first effusion is therefore very important.

#### 1.2.3.2.1 Innovative and experimental treatments

Various types of gene therapy have also been proposed. These include "suicide genes" which make the tumor cells susceptible to antiviral agents, and genes that stimulate natural defense mechanisms, such as cytokine genes to stimulate natural killer cell activity and heat shock protein genes to increase presentation of tumor antigens (Albelda SM, 1997). Moreover, the overexpression of p14 (ARF) causes G (1)-phase arrest and apoptotic cell death, which suggests that such gene therapy-based approach may be useful in the treatment of MMs (Yang CT, et al, 2000). Another possible target for novel therapy is the vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor (VEGF/VEGFR), which is essential for the tumor to exceed a certain size. It has recently been shown that VEGF is also needed for growth of these tumors, and that this growth can be inhibited by treatment with the VEGF receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitors, such as SU5416 (Litz J, et al, 2004) and PTK787 (Qian DZ, et al, 2004). All of these studies are at a very early stage and not yet realistic options for treatment.

#### 1.2.3.2.2 Conventional therapies

Several properties of MM render it resistant to conventional therapies. MM is usually wide spread rather than localized, first affecting the parietal and then the visceral pleurae. It rapidly infiltrates neighboring structures, such as the lungs, diaphragm, chest wall, and mediastinum. These features often make complete surgical resection

impossible. MM is also resistant to radiotherapy and successful radiation requires large doses (Ahamad A, et al, 2003). Despite numerous trials using various chemotherapeutic agents, none has been found to be effective (Ryan CW, 1998). More importantly, the effect on survival is limited (Ong ST, et al, 1996; Ryan CW, 1998; Baas P, et al, 1998).

#### 1.2.3.3 Drug resistance

MMs are largely chemoresistant and have upregulated several systems involved in multidrug resistance. Therefore new agents are needed to improve the results of treatment. This multidrug resistance is poorly understood and it may be due to a number of factors.

#### 1.2.3.3.1 Free radicals and antioxidant enzymes (AOEs)

AOEs may play a critical role in the resistance of malignant cells to cytotoxic drugs and radiation. Recent studies have shown that the levels of manganese superoxide dismutase (Mn-SOD, a mitochondrial superoxide scavenging AOE), and catalase (an important hydrogen peroxide scavenging AOE) are higher in MM tissues and cell lines than in benign mesothelial cells. The most resistant cell line has the highest protein expression of catalase (Kahlos K, et al, 1998; 2001). The formation of Mn-SOD can be induced *in vivo* by asbestos fibers (Kinnula VL, et al, 1996), multiple cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$  (Wong GH and Goeddel DV, 1988; Kinnula VL and Crapo JD, 2003), and oxidative stress (Kinnula VL and Crapo JD, 2004). MM cells with lower levels of Mn-SOD (M14K) are more sensitive to epirubicin-induced toxicity and apoptosis than cells with high Mn-SOD (M38K) (Kahlos K, 2000), which indicates that the high resistance of MM cells to cytotoxic drugs is associated with resistance to apoptosis and possibly with the high antioxidant capacity and Mn-SOD of the cell (Kahlos K, 2000).

#### 1.2.3.3.2 Membrane pump extrusion of chemotherapeutic agents

P-glycoprotein-mediated drug efflux may be involved in the resistance of some MMs (Isobe H, et al, 1994). The multidrug resistance (MDR-1) gene encodes this phosphoglycoprotein, P-GP, which serves as an energy-dependent drug candidate pump that reduces intracellular drug accumulation and cytotoxicity (Borst P, et al, 2000).

#### 1.2.3.3.3 Expression of multidrug resistance genes and multidrug resistance-

#### associated proteins

Drug resistance commonly occurs with overexpression of other genes associated with multidrug resistance. Some studies have shown that the expression of glutathione and glutathione S-transferases (GST) is high in MM (Kinnula K, et al, 1998; Dejmek A, et al, 1998), which accords with the low responsiveness of mesotheliomas to chemotherapy. Oxidants and cytotoxic drugs induce Glutathione (GSH) -associated pathways, and they are also involved in the progression and resistance of some tumor cells *in vitro* (Jarvinen K, 2002). Gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase (gamma GCS) is also highly expressed in most cases of MM and may play an important role in the primary drug resistance of MM *in vivo* (Jarvinen K, 2002). The mRNAs of the multidrug resistance-associated protein (MRP) and gamma GCS heavy subunit genes are highly expressed in MM cell lines *in vitro* (Ogretmen B, et al, 1998). The

```
Sun Xj
```

expression levels of MRP1 and MRP2 are also increased in MM *in vivo* (Soini Y, et al, 2001).

## 1.2.4 PROGNOSIS

There is a considerable delay between exposure to asbestos and the development of invasive mesothelioma. For example, those exposed in the 1940s to 1970s are only now being diagnosed as having this tumor since the normal latency period is 15-50 years. By the time the tumor is diagnosed, curative treatment is usually not feasible. The median survival rate varies between 5 and 16 months according to the histological type and clinical stage at diagnosis (Chahinian AP, et al, 1982; Schildge J, et al, 1989; Fusco V, et al, 1993). The epithelioid type has the most favorable prognosis, while the fibrosarcomatous growth pattern implies a shorter survival. In a few cases, the course is slow and survival long whatever the therapy (Dejmek A, 1992); indeed, single cases have survived more than 15 years regardless of the therapy (Law MR, et al, 1984).

## 1.3 APOPTOSIS

The programmed cell death called apoptosis differs in many respects from less specific necrosis. This is an orderly predetermined process, whereby cells, that are no longer needed or detrimental to the organism or tissue, are removed in an orderly manner. There are three pathways that lead to apoptosis: (1) an "extrinsic" pathway initiated by external signals – e.g., from FasL, TNF and caspase-8, (2) an "intrinsic"/mitochondrial pathway triggered by internal signals – i.e., Bcl-2, Apaf-1 (apoptotic protease activating factor-1) and caspase-9, – and (3) a third, caspase-independent pathway. The first two are therefore mediated by caspases, a family of cysteine proteases, and both pathways merge at caspase-3. The third caspase-independent one requires a molecule called apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) that controls early morphogenesis for triggering apoptosis (Joza N, et al, 2001).

Apoptosis is characterized by specific morphological changes including cell membrane blebbing, cytoplasmic and nuclear condensation, DNA fragmentation, and the formation of apoptotic bodies. This specific type of cell death occurs in physiological and pathological conditions. Timely regulated cell death is very important for embryogenesis and tissue homeostasis (Schutte B, et al, 2000). Dysregulation of apoptosis is associated with a number of diseases. Failure to induce apoptosis can result in lymphoproliferative disease or cancer (Fadeel et al, 1999). In tumorigenesis, dysregulation of apoptosis together with deregulation of the cell cycle are considered necessary for tumor progression (Hanahan D and Weinberg RA, 2000). Such dysregulation might be useful as a therapeutic target to restore or even induce apoptotic signaling.

## **1.3.1 INDUCTION OF APOPTOSIS**

Tumor suppressor genes encode critical cell cycle regulatory proteins that are frequently mutated or deleted in mesothelioma and, therefore, are important candidates for the treatment of cancer on the basis of gene replacement strategies. For example, the restoration of p53 function can induce the arrest of MM cell growth and apoptosis by the overexpression of p53 (Giuliano M, et al, 2000), by the expression of regulators of

p53 levels, such as p14<sup>ARF</sup> (Yang CT, et al, 2000), or by the expression of antisense transcripts to SV40 Tag (Waheed I, et al, 1999). The greater sensitivity of MM to apoptosis-inducing agents, such as most anticancer drugs, makes this an apparent paradox. Tumors with such upregulation may have pro- and anti-apoptotic mechanisms in equilibrium and they may therefore be more dependent on this than other tumors that have developed without a particular defense against apoptosis. Although this defense makes the cells resistant, interference with the protective mechanism itself may even increase the effect of pro-apoptotic events.

Adenoviral gene-based therapy, such as the expression of p16INK4A in adenovirus (Adp16INK4A) inhibits cell proliferation significantly, which suggests that Adp16INK4A may be useful in the treatment of human mesotheliomas (Yang CT, et al, 2003).

Apoptotic resistance of cancer cells can be overcome by combinating the treatments that activate the two major apoptotic pathways: (i) the death receptor pathway activated by death ligands and (ii) the DNA damage pathway activated by chemotherapy. A recent study has shown that mesothelioma cells, resistant to most treatments, respond to the combination of the death ligand tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL/Apo2L) and chemotherapy (Liu W, et al, 2001).

## 1.3.2 RESISTANCE TO APOPTOSIS

The resistance to apoptosis of MM is another mechanism by which a tumor can reduce the effect of chemotherapy. Most drugs used for chemotherapy induce apoptosis by affecting the mitochondrion. The BCL-2 family of proteins and related phosphorylating enzymes are the major regulators of mitochondrial apoptotic homeostasis. Some studies have shown that the resistance to apoptosis of MM cells is associated with a change in the expression of pro-apoptotic Bax and anti-apoptotic protein BCL-XL, but rarely with the anti-apoptotic protein Bcl-2 (Narasimhan SR, et al, 1998; Soini Y, et al, 1999). This BCL-XL overexpression may prevent apoptosis in MM, while downregulation of the expression of the BCL-XL protein using antisense oligonucleotides (Smythe WR, et al, 2002) or histone deacetylase inhibitor (Cao XX, et al, 2001) causes apoptosis in MM cell lines and mesothelioma, and can sensitize human MM cells to the effects of conventional chemotherapy agents, such as cisplatin (Ozvaran MK, et al, 2004). Therefore, acquired resistance of MM to chemotherapy can result from a decrease in the induction or occurrence of apoptosis.

The human inhibitor of apoptosis protein-1 gene (IAP-1), which has a protein product that facilitates resistance to apoptosis in many types of cancer, is highly expressed in MM, as shown by differential display. It may also favor a drug-resistant phenotype in these tumors (Gordon GJ, et al, 2002).

### 1.4 POSSIBLE NEW TARGETS

### 1.4.1 THE THIOREDOXIN (Trx) SYSTEM

The Trx system is composed of TrxR (previously abbreviated TR), Trx and NAPDH. TrxR is a homodimer of 56 kDa subunits - a member of a pyridine nucleotide disulfide oxidoreductase family. Trx is a group of 12-kDa thiol/disulfide oxidoreductases. They are reduced by NADPH, a reaction catalyzed by TrxR. The Trx system is an efficient general protein disulfide reductase system (Holmgren A and Björnstedt M, 1995), which plays an important role in the redox regulation of signal transduction, transcription, cell growth, and apoptosis. Three members of the Trx group, Trx-1 (Grogan TM, et al, 2000), mitochondrial Trx-2 (Spyrou G, et al, 1997), and a novel Golgi apparatus-associated Trx-3 (Jimenez A, et al, 2004), have been identified. The activity of Trx depends on the redox status of TrxR, the activity of which in turn is dependent on a selenocysteine residue. There are three separate mammalian thioredoxin reductases. These include widely expressed cytosolic TrxR1, mitochondrial TrxR2, and TrxR3, which is located mainly in testis (Sun QA, et al, 1999; 2001). TrxR has broad substrate specificity and selenium is needed for cell proliferation (Björnstedt M, et al, 1997).

Some studies have shown that the levels of Trx-1 protein are significantly increased in several types of cancers that affect humans - i.e., in the stomach (50% of cases) (Grogan TM, et al, 2000), colon (55%) (Gallegos A, et al, 2000), and pancreas (41%) (Nakamura H, et al, 2000). In gastric cancer, a highly significant correlation has been found between an increase in Trx-1 expression and inhibition of apoptosis (Grogan TM, et al, 2000). Moreover, the increase in Trx-1 expression is an independent prognostic factor in non-small cell lung cancer patient, which suggests a shorter survival rate (Kakolyris S, et al, 2001). Reduced thioredoxin acts as an autocrine growth factor in various tumors, as a chemoattractant, and it synergizes with interleukins-1 and -2. The effects of anti-tumor drugs, such as carmustine, cisplatin, and oxaliplatin, can be explained in part by the inhibition of TrxR (Arnér ES, et al, 2001; Witte AB, 2005). Accordingly, high levels of the enzyme can promote drug resistance (Becker K, et al, 2000).

The high expression of Trx/TrxR described in MM [**paper I**] may play an important role in the drug resistance of malignant mesotheliomas (Kahlos K, et al, 2001). These findings firmly establish Trx-1 as an important target for drugs to treat MMs.

#### 1.4.2 PROTEASOME

The proteasome system is an intracellular complex with protease activity, the detection of which resulted in the 2004 Nobel prize in chemistry. Selected intracellular proteins to be degraded are first tagged with ubiquitin, which makes them enter the degrading proteasome, thereby constituting the Proteasome-Ubiquitin Pathway (UPP). The ubiquitination is a highly specific process that determines which proteins should be degraded.

The active catalytic site in the proteasome is located in a 20S multisubunit structure consisting of four stacked rings arranged around an inner channel. When capped by the

19S regulatory complex at each end, the 20S complex forms the core of the 26S proteasome, the major extralysosomal mediator of protein degradation in the cell. The UPP, which consists of the ubiquitin-conjugating system and the proteasome, is a major pathway of proteolysis in eukaryotic cells that controls intracellular protein degradation (Hochstrasser M, 1995; Ciechanover A, 1994; Jentsch S, 1995).

The selectivity of the ubiquitination enables the cell to control many important processes – e.g., cell cycle progression, DNA repair, and gene transcription. The deregulation of various UPP functions is thought to play a role in malignant transformation (Masdehors P, et al, 2000) and is related to a worse prognosis (Chiarle R, et al, 2000; Li B and Dou QP, 2000). On the other hand, inhibition of the proteasome would lead to arrest of the cell cycle and ultimately to apoptosis and tumor regression as the single agent in a broad spectrum of tumor cell lines and in *in vivo* xenograft models (Orlowski RZ, et al, 1998; Adams J, et al, 1999; Soligo D, et al, 2001).

The association between proteasome activity and malignancy may be related to the turnover of oncoproteins and transcriptional regulators. Proteins that are degraded by the UPP include the inhibitor of nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF) - ubiquitinated I $\kappa B$  (Ni H, et al, 2001; Orlowski RZ and Baldwin AS, 2002), the tumor suppressor p53 (Salvat C, et al, 1999), the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors p21 and p27 (Kudo Y, et al, 2000; Hideshima T, et al, 2001), and the pro-apoptotic protein Bax (Li B and Dou QP, 2000). The accumulation of these substrates, which results from proteasome inhibition, causes inactivation of NF $\kappa$ B, a reduction in NF $\kappa$ B-dependent transcription of genes which are essential to the promotion of tumorigenesis, an increase in p53-mediated transcription of genes which are important for apoptosis and negative regulation of the cell cycle, p21- and p27-mediated induction of cell cycle arrest. The inducible activation of the nuclear transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B seems to inhibit the apoptotic response to chemotherapy and irradiation (Wang CY, et al, 1996).

This makes the proteasome system a possible target for new drugs, particularly for tumors with a deregulated UPP. Several studies suggest that tumor cells are more susceptible to proteasome inhibitors than normal cells (Soligo D, et al, 2001; Hideshima T, et al, 2001; Qin JZ, et al, 2005), but the molecular basis of this differential susceptibility remains to be elucidated. The resistance to chemotherapy and radiation therapy limits the effectiveness of many treatments currently available to patients, and proteasome inhibitors may counteract such effects. The inhibition of proteasome function blocks the activation of chemotherapy-induced NF $\kappa$ B by stabilizing I $\kappa$ B, which remarkably increases chemosensitivity and apoptosis (Orlowski RZ and Baldwin AS, 2002). In combination of a proteasome inhibitor, such as bortezomib with other forms of chemotherapy (Cusack JC, et al, 2001; Ganten TM, et al, 2005). Proteasome inhibitors may also increase radiosensitivity (Russo SM, et al, 2001).

The UPP is therefore necessary for the degradation of proteins involved in control of the cell cycle and the growth of tumor. Proteasome inhibitors arrest or retard progression of cancer, by interfering with the degradation of regulatory molecules. The

development of proteasome inhibitors and the necessary *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies of proteasome inhibition, as regards to cancer therapy, have already been started (Orlowski RZ, et al, 2002; Richardson PG, et al, 2003; 2004; Papandreou CN, et al, 2004; Lee KW, et al, 2005).

# 2 PRESENT INVESTIGATION

## 2.1 AIMS

The main aim of this thesis was to study the differences between epithelioid and fibroblast-like differentiation in malignant and benign mesothelial cells.

The STAV mesothelioma cell line was originally obtained from a pleural effusion, and it was found to differentiate into sublines with either of the two phenotypes, depending on the serum supplementation (Klominek J, et al, 1989).

A similar variation in growth pattern can also be obtained in cultures of benign mesothelial cells, which then grow with a fibroblastic or epithelioid morphology *in vitro* (Lanfrancone L, et al, 1992; Mouriquand J, et al, 1977). The growth patterns are stable during several passages, as shown by their ultrastructural and immunocytochemical characteristics (Gulyas M, et al, 1999).

Therefore, the STAV cell sublines and benign mesothelial cell cultures provide models for tracing molecular changes involved in mesothelial cell differentiation. Better understanding of the mechanisms underlying this differentiation may provide clues to improve the diagnostic methods, and even suggest some targets for novel therapies.

## 2.2 SCREENING APPROACHES FOR MESOTHELIAL CELL DIFFERENTIATION

## 2.2.1 SUPPRESSION SUBTRACTIVE HYBRIDIZATION (SSH)

The PCR-based cDNA subtraction method called suppression subtractive hybridization (SSH) is a simple, fast, efficient method that minimizes the loss of low abundance molecules (Diatchenko L, et al, 1996; Gurskaya NG, 1996). We used this strategy to isolate several cDNA clones representing transcripts of genes that are differentially expressed in one of the phenotypes. A high level of enrichment of rare transcripts has been achieved by including a normalization step in the subtraction procedure. Under our standard conditions, the driver cDNA removes most of the sequences common to both the tester and driver cDNA samples. This method also eliminates any intermediate step(s) for physical separation of ss and ds cDNAs, needs only a small amount of the starting material (0.2-2µg of poly A<sup>+</sup> RNA), requires only one subtractive hybridization round, and obtains more than 1,000-fold enrichment for differentially expressed cDNAs. The SSH method was used in papers [I] and [II] to show the differentially expressed genes, comparing the epithelioid and fibroblastoid phenotypes in benign and malignant mesothelial cells.

## 2.2.2 MICROARRAY

Monitoring gene expression is widely used in medical and biological research, including the classification of diseases, understanding of basic biological processes, and identifying new drug targets. Until recently, comparison of the expression levels in various tissues or cell lines was limited to tracking a few genes at a time. The

microarray procedures enable one to monitor the activities of thousands of genes simultaneously. With this procedure, RNA or DNA is prepared from the biological material to be analyzed. In this study, we used the Affymetrix' technique, in which the RNA is subjected to reverse transcriptase reactions, eventually generating cRNA with biotin tags incorporated. This then hybridizes to the array probe sequences attached to the chip, and the hybrids formed can be detected by adding the avidin-labeled fluorochrome and subsequent laser excitation. The Affymetrix system used [**paper III**] also allows the detection of splice variants by probing various parts of an expressed gene, and the discrimination of specific and nonspecific signals, by comparing the probe sequences to single base mismatches.

Affymetrix chips are now available that are hybridized to more than 10,000 genes. One problem in acquiring useful information with this method, however, in the enormous amount of information yielded. Chips with particular "assortments" of genes, such as the Human Cancer G110 oligonucleotide array chip used by us (Schaefer KL, 2002; **paper III**), somewhat reduce these problems.

In clinical studies, expression profiling using the Affymetrix system may do more than just provide a better understanding of biological and pathobiological processes and even the function of genes and proteins. A molecular phenotype can be established in this way, which might lead to optimization and specific tailoring of therapies on the basis of the individual tumor.

#### 2.2.3 REAL-TIME RT-PCR

Real-time RT-PCR is a sensitive, quantitative, and reliable method for RNA quantification (for theoretical basis of this method, see Gibson UE, et al, 1996 and Bieche I, et al, 1999). The simplest detection technique for newly synthesized PCR products in real-time PCR uses SYBR Green I fluorescence dye that binds specifically to the minor groove double-stranded DNA (Morrison T, et al, 1998). Two quantification types of real-time RT-PCR are usually employed: (1) A relative quantification based on the relative expression of a target gene versus a reference gene was used in paper [III]. To study the physiological changes in gene expression, the relative expression ratio is adequate for most purposes. (2) An absolute quantification of target DNA can also be done, based either on an internal or an external calibration curve (Morrison T, 1998; Pfaffl MW, 2001). Unregulated genes or housekeeping genes, like glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH), albumin, actins, tubulins, cyclophilin, 18S rRNA or 28S rRNA (Marten NW, et al, 1994), have mainly been used as reference genes. The mRNA synthesis of these genes is considered to be stable in various tissues, even during experimental treatments (Foss DL, et al, 1998; Thellin O, et al, 1999). Relative expression is sufficient for the most relevant physiological expression changes. For purposes of the differential display of mRNA, the relative expression ratio is an ideal and simple method for the verification of RNA or DNA array chip technology results.

Microarrays permit the parallel analysis of thousands of genes in two-differentially labeled RNA populations (Schena M, et al, 1995), while real-time RT-PCR simultaneously measures gene expression in many different samples of a limited

number of genes, and is especially suitable when only a small number of cells are available (Heid CA, et al, 1996; Fink L, et al, 1998). Both methods have the advantages of speed, output and a high degree of potential automation as compared to conventional quantification methods; such as Northern blot analysis and competitive RT-PCR.

## 2.3 APOPTOSIS ASSAYS

Apoptosis was determined by combinating morphology, caspase-3 activation, and FACS analysis.

## 2.3.1 MORPHOLOGICAL ANALYSIS

The cell morphology was routinely monitored under a light microscope during treatment. After 24 h of treatment, the cells on the chamber slides were fixed with ethanol and stained according to Papanicolaou [**paper IV**]. Alternatively, cells in suspension were prepared by cytospin, air-dried and stained according to May-Grunwald-Giemsa [**paper V**]. All slides were randomized and analyzed morphologically in a double-blind manner. Apoptotic cells were assessed by morphological criteria, such as cytoplasmic shrinkage, membrane blebbing, and disintegrated cell bodies, increase in nuclei density, and nuclear fragmentation. Cells with more than one nucleus or without cytoplasm were not counted. We found no signs of necrosis.

## 2.3.2 CASPASE-3 ACTIVATION

The caspase family of proteases plays an essential role in the execution of apoptosis. They are synthesized as catalytically inactive proenzymes in normal cells and are activated by proteolytic cleavage during apoptosis (Budihardjo et al, 1999). Therefore, activation (by cleavage) of caspases, such as caspase-3, is often used as an indicator of caspase-dependent apoptotic cell death. After treatment, the cell lysates were subjected to SDS-PAGE. Cleavage of caspase-3 was detected by Western blot analysis using antibody that recognized both procaspase-3 and cleaved caspase-3. There was no cleavage of caspase-3 in cells treated with DMSO, while the cleaved caspase-3 was detectable in cells treated with proteasome inhibitor [**paper IV**].

## 2.3.3 FACS ANALYSIS

After treatment with proteasome inhibitors or selenite, adherent cells were pooled including floating cells, and stained with fluorescein isothiocyanate conjugated antibodies to Annexin V (Annexin V-FITC) and propidium iodide (PI). Annexin V labels cells that demonstrate externalization of phosphatidylserine on the cytoplasm membrane, an early sign of apoptosis. The parallel staining with PI labels those cells that have an increase in permeability of the cell membrane, a later sign of apoptosis. When the dying cells begin to disintegrate, one cannot distinguish between apoptotic and necrotic cells using this method. Early apoptotic cells were defined as those being Annexin V-positive and PI-negative. A FACScan flow cytometer equipped with CellQuest and ModFit LT software was used for the analyses [**papers IV** and **V**].

# Sun Xj 2.4 SSH EXPERIMENT (PAPERS I AND II)

To understand better the regulatory mechanisms by which the malignant mesotheliomas and benign mesothelial cells differentiate into an epithelial or a fibroblast-like phenotype, we used a mesothelioma cell line that can differentiate into sublines with epithelial or fibroblast-like phenotype depending on their serum supplementation in paper [I], and mesothelial short-term cultures that were obtained from benign effusions with epithelial or fibroblast-like phenotype in paper [II], as *in vitro* models. Genes found to be differentially expressed in these *in vitro* models were identified by suppression subtractive hybridization. Differential cDNA was amplified by PCR, and the amplimers were cloned and sequenced, confirming the differential expression by a separate dot blot test, Western blot and immunohistochemistry.

A limited number of differentially expressed cDNAs were isolated in this way in the two sublines: nine genes obtained from the epithelial subline, as compared to only two genes in the fibroblast-like phenotype. One of these differentially expressed genes codes for Trx. The higher expression of Trx by the epithelioid phenotype was also verified on the protein level by Western blot analysis. At the same time, the activity of TrxR was found to be exceptionally high in both sublines, but twofold greater in the epithelioid phenotype [**paper I**].

In benign fibroblastic mesothelial cells, nine overexpressed genes were found, using SSH [**paper II**]. Six of these genes are related to a proliferative cell type, and three are matrix-associated. Eight genes were similarly upregulated in the epithelioid phenotype; seven of which were related to specialized functions of a differentiated cell (metabolism, cytoskeletal composition, and regulation of differentiation), while one was associated with nuclear transport. These findings indicate that fibrous and epithelioid mesothelial cells in culture are closely related, the former representing a more activated and proliferative form. Immunocytochemistry studies also showed the difference *in vivo* by using commercial antibodies. Thus 14-3-3  $\varepsilon$ , integrin  $\alpha$ 5 and collagen-binding protein 2 were found mainly in submesothelial fibroblast cells in which the tissue showed morphological signs of mild activation, while stronger staining of annexin II, cytokeratin 7 and cytokertin 8 were seen only in the flattened mesothelial surface cells.

## 2.5 MICROARRAY (PAPER III)

To further explore the molecular mechanisms responsible for this differentiation of mesothelioma cells, and understand better the factors that are important for progression of MM, we also used oligonucleotide arrays in our *in vitro* model of mesothelioma differentiation.

In this study, we identified 102 genes that were consistently deregulated in nine comparisons from the array containing 2059 human cancer genes. Of these, 56 genes were up-, and 46 were down- regulated, when comparing the epithelioid phenotype with the fibroblastic one. Some of the overexpressed genes were identical to those identified by suppression subtractive hybridization. Clustering of these genes in functional categories, such as signal transduction, receptors/ligands, cell growth and proliferation, cell adhesion, transcription, metabolism, and defense response, shows distinct patterns of the two phenotypes.

The molecular fingerprint of the sarcomatous tumor component indicates an overrepresentation of survival-promoting genes, growth factor receptors and other growth factor-binding proteins. Epithelioid mesothelioma cells express other tumor-promoting factors, concomitantly with differentiation, metabolism, and regulation of apoptosis. We selected 10 overexpressed genes of each phenotype for verification with Real-time RT-PCR, and they were all differentially expressed also by this latter analysis. Similarly, Western blot and immunohistochemical staining confirmed the overexpression of some of the selected proteins.

## 2.6 POSSIBLE NEW TARGETS FOR MESOTHELIOMA THERAPY [PAPERS IV AND V]

The Affymetrix analyses [**paper III**] suggest that there are major differences in tumor driving mechanisms in the two phenotypic sublines, although they originate in the same tumor. A tailored therapy may be more effective, if this heterogeneity is taken into consideration. Two systems that can provide such specific targets are the Trx system and the proteasome, which both were highly upregulated in STAV cell lines, especially in the epithelioid STAV-AB cells [**papers I** and **III**]. Such upregulation may indicate that these cells have an advantage as regards growth, and that targeting them might be of value for therapy. In papers [**IV**] and [**V**] we evaluated the differential apoptotic effect of the inhibitors of proteasome and selenite on the two mesothelioma sublines.

The proteasome inhibitor (PSI) shows substantial anti-tumor activity in several tumor cell lines. The mesothelioma cell viability is reduced in a dose- and time- dependent manner by both PSI and calpain inhibitor I, the latter another proteasome inhibitor necessitating higher concentrations. The STAV-AB subline is more sensitive to PSI than STAV-FCS, with a mean 24 hours  $IC_{50}$  of 4  $\mu$ M and 16  $\mu$ M for the two cell sublines, respectively. PSI seems to reduce mesothelioma viability by inducing apoptosis, as verified by cell morphology, Western blotting of caspase-3 cleavage, and flow cytometric analysis of apoptosis. Thus, analogs of PSI may be of value in the treatment of patients with mesothelioma, especially those with the epithelioid phenotype [**paper IV**].

The Trx system is indispensable in the defense against oxidative stress. It produces a reduced state in the cell that resists oxidation. The weakness of this cellular defense strategy is that all the thiol groups present may catalyze a nonstochiometric production of ROS when exposed to selenite. In Paper [V], we evaluated the effects of treatment with selenite alone on the redox balance in malignant mesothelioma cells – i.e., on viability, the induction of apoptosis, and the activity of the Trx- and GPx-systems. We also studied the combined effects of selenite and doxorubicin to evaluate possible synergism.

Selenite inhibited the growth of mesothelioma phenotypes in a dose- and timedependent manner. The sarcomatoid cells are significantly more sensitive, with a mean 28 hours IC<sub>50</sub> of 7.5  $\mu$ M for the sarcomatous cell line and 21  $\mu$ M for the epithelioid cells. This reduction in viability of mesothelioma cells was associated with apoptosis, as shown on morphological examination and FACS analysis of AnnexinV-positive

cells. Three Mesothelioma cell lines, and two adenocarcinoma cell lines also responded well to treatment with selenite, while benign mesothelium was less sensitive. The activity of TrxR1 and GPx increased markedly at low concentrations of selenite (2.5  $\mu$ M), however, higher concentrations (5-30  $\mu$ M) decreased the expression and activity of the two enzymes further.

Doxorubicin, on the other hand, caused a dose- and time-dependent inhibition of growth of epithelioid MM cells, but had no effect on the sarcomatoid cells; they proliferated at a similar rate regardless of the doxorubicin concentrations. When selenite was combined with doxorubicin, this drastically reduced the viability and induced apoptosis in both MM phenotypes, and the effect appeared to be synergistic. Therefore such a combination might be useful in the treatment of patients with mesothelioma, especially of mixed and sarcomatoid phenotypes.

# **3 DISCUSSION**

Using suppression subtractive hybridization (SSH), we found two cDNAs that were overexpressed in the STAV-FCS subline, while nine genes were higher in the STAV-AB subline [**paper I**]. Some of these phenotype-specific transcripts may be factors that regulate the differentiation of the two cell sublines. One of the differentially-expressed cDNAs in the STAV-FCS subline was human 28S ribosomal RNA gene, homologous with the gene isolated from the Barstead stromal cell that may produce rapid and drastic changes in the phenotype (Gonzalez IL, et al, 1985). This is interesting from the point of view that the fibroblast-like mesothelial cells in culture correspond to a mesenchymal cell that gradually adapts epithelioid characteristics [**paper II**].

In the STAV-AB subline, one of the identified gene sequences is homologous with the human calcyclin gene [**paper I**] and therefore associated with epithelial differentiation of the mesodermally-derived mesothelioma cells. This gene has also been implicated in resistance to therapy (Shi Y, et al, 2004), but may have various biological functions and be involved in carcinogenesis (Rehman I, et al, 2004).

Other STAV-AB-derived sequences showed homology with the human mRNA for the proteasome subunit Y and for Trx. These two differences in STAV cell sublines found in papers [I] and [III] were evaluated as possible therapies in papers [IV] and [V].

Of the genes overexpressed in benign fibroblastic mesothelial cells, some are matrixassociated and therefore related to a mesenchymal phenotype, while most are associated with a less differentiated and highly proliferative cell. In contrast to this, the upregulated genes in the epithelioid phenotype are related to specialized functions, such as metabolism, cytoskeletal composition and the regulation of differentiation. The growth pattern as mesothelial cells from a less differentiated fibroblastic to a more specialized epithelioid phenotype may be regulated by the differentially expressed genes. Our findings in the benign model also accord with those in MM, in which the sarcomatous phenotype is more proliferative and has a worse prognosis.

Using SSH, there only seem to be a few differentially expressed genes found in mesothelioma cells that have different phenotypic growth patterns. We therefore utilized these two mesothelioma cell sublines as a model of the morphological changes *in vitro*, and oligonucleitide array to isolate more of the genes involved in the phenotypic transitions between epithelioid and fibroblast-like mesothelioma cells [**paper III**]. Some of the findings were in agreement with the previous study [**paper I**], but with the lower threshold, more genes were identified as deregulated (104 of 2059 genes), as compared with the 11 genes isolated by SSH.

The pattern of deregulated genes associated with metabolism accords with the findings in paper [I]. The fibroblast-like mesothelioma subline overexpresses genes that are associated with growth factors, their receptors, and the proteins involved in signal transduction, as well as signaling and the other two genes related to invasion, while the

genes related to metabolism, differentiation, defense response, and apoptosis were identified from the epithelioid one [**paper III**].

These data are important because they describe a functional heterogeneity related to the well-described morphological heterogeneity of MM. The less differentiated sarcomatoid MM cells produce more factors associated with a more aggressive behavior (Ceresoli GL, et al, 2001). This particular heterogeneity may play an important role in the ability of the tumor to respond to therapy. It may therefore explain why a drug will be only partly effective, and allow other tumor clones to expand.

In summary, these studies indicate that the differentiation of mesothelial cells is associated with the expression of certain patterns of genes. Although the epithelioid and fibroblastic phenotypes are closely related, the fibrous cells seem to represent a less differentiated phenotype, which may act as a precursor to the epithelioid counterpart.

Some of the differencially expressed genes were tested as possible targets for therapy. The catalytic 20S proteasome subunit was differentially expressed [**papers I** and **III**], and immunocytochemistry demonstrated that the proteasome system is abundantly present in MM tissue [**papers III** and **IV**]. Treatment with the proteasome inhibitor PSI reduced the viability of various MM cell lines in a time- and concentration- dependent manner, the epithelioid cells being more sensitive than the sarcomatoid ones [**paper IV**].

Trx/TrxR was highly expressed in both MM phenotypes, the highest levels being seen in the epithelioid cells [**paper I**]. However, the sarcomatoid phenotype was more sensitive to the effects of selenite than the epithelioid cells. Both cell phenotypes had extremely high levels of Trx/TrxR. They were probably in such a reduced state so as to permit selenite to induce the uncontrolled production of ROS species and apoptosis in the sarcomatoid cells, while the even higher levels of Trx/TrxR in the epithelioid ones seemed protective. However, greater selenite concentration or longer exposure times induced similar changes also in the epithelioid cells.

Chemotherapy of MM often gives only partial responses, which may correlate to our finding that the two main phenotypes utilize different tumor driving mechanisms. Therefore, it seems likely that better therapeutic effects can be obtained by combining drugs to combat both phenotypes. On the basis of our studies with sublines from one MM, we hypothesize that the combination of selenite and proteasome inhibitors can be an effective therapy for MM. The value of such tailored combinations, however, must be further tested in other cell lines and tumor tissue before clinical trials can be justified.

## 4 CONCLUSIONS

- Two mesothelioma sublines with epithelial (STAV-AB) or fibroblast-like phenotype (STAV-FCS) derived from a mesothelioma cell line is a useful *in vitro* model to study the differentiation of mesothelioma cell phenotypes.
- Suppression subtractive hybridization, comparing the two sublines, identified a few differentially expressed genes, which showed a pattern, suggesting that fibroblastic mesothelioma cells represent a less mature stage, from which epithelial cells can be derived depending on the stimulus.
- Oligonucleotide microarray revealed additional differentially expressed genes in the two sublines. These had similar distinctive patterns i.e., survival-promoting genes, growth factor receptors and other growth factor binding proteins overexpressed in the sarcomatous tumor, and other tumor-promoting factors, together with differentiation, metabolism, and regulation of apoptosis in the epithelioid mesothelioma cells.
- The mesothelial cells obtained from benign effusions are not terminally differentiated and stable during early passages. The cultures with a fibroblastic or epithelioid phenotype *in vitro* provide a model for the study of mesothelial differentiation.
- Analysis of benign mesothelial cells by suppression subtractive hybridization show a pattern similar to that in mesothelioma cells, suggesting that the benign fibroblastic cell is more proliferative and less differentiated than the epithelioid one.
- MM cells showed overexpression of possible targets for therapy such as proteasome components and Trx/TR.
- Proteasome inhibitors such as PSI, effectively induce apoptosis of mesothelioma cells, and this or other analog drugs may be useful in the treatment of patients with mesothelioma, especially of epithelioid phenotype, while selenite reduced the viability of the mesothelioma cells by inducing apoptosis, showed synergistic effects when combined with doxorubicin, and can probably be used to the patients with mesothelioma, especially of the sarcomatoid phenotype.
- We have identified significant differences in the growth regulation of the two MM phenotypes. The use of such molecular phenotyping may therefore improve our ability to design therapies that are effective against both phenotypes.

## **5 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS**

These studies were supported by grants from the Swedish Cancer Funds (project no. 2485) and the Swedish Heart and Lung Funds.

I thank the staff in the Division of Pathology, Department of Laboratory Medicine, Karolinska Institutet for providing a stimulating research environment and excellent facilities for experiments during my years as a graduate student.

I also thank all my co-authors and colleagues for helping me to complete my thesis, and especially the following persons:

Professor **Anders Hjerpe**, my supervisor, for giving me the opportunity of being a member of your research group and for financial support during these years. Thank you for sharing your unending flow of ideas and visions, your extensive knowledge in the fields of biology, biochemistry, and pathology of the mesothelium and mesothelioma, for encouragement, trust and support at all times and for being a generous and appreciative supervisor. Without your encouragement and your endless patience, I could not have completed these studies.

Dr. **Katalin Dobra**, my supervisor and co-author, for always taking the time to help me, even when you were extremely busy. Thanks for being dedicated, always having an answer, and striving for perfection, our interesting discussions about the experiments, the papers or even life, but not least for your friendship.

Dr. **Miklós Gulyás**, my co-author, for useful collaboration, chats, and friendship. The laboratory staff: **Mervi Nurminen** and **Ulrika Bockstedt**. Many thanks to both of you for dealing with the orders and making the lab a nice place to work, your skilful technical assistance and encouragement.

Åsa-Lena Dackland, for help with flow cytometry.

Other members of Anders Hjerpe's group: Péter Vánky, Nina Wolmer, Carina Seidel, Achilleas Theocharis, Gustav Nilsonne, and Zong Fang, for creating a pleasant atmosphere and for your kindness.

**Bao Wenjie, Zhang Hongquan**, and **Li Zhilun**; for scientific advice and help, for your friendship.

**Mikael Björnstedt**; for scientific advice and the discussions about the Trx/TR system in our papers, for your friendship.

Annika Gad, for your kindness and friendship.

Professor Lennart Eriksson; the head of the Department of Laboratory Medicine, for your interest and encouragement.

Maj-Len Holm; for making things run smoothly, and your friendship.

## Sun Xj

Bao Lei, Wu Qinyang, Lu Lei, and Wang Yunling; for your help and interesting discussions about life and science.

Han Ling, Zhang Wei, Guan Zhizhong, Hu yin, Wang Fuhua, and their families; for your help and good friendship.

**My parents**; for always believing in me, for your encouragement, help, and endless love. **My sister and brothers**, their families, and their lovely children, for your love and support. **My mother-in-law**, for her understanding and support.

Lei Wei, my love, my life and husband! For your love and advice about scientific matters in these studies. Thank you for your encouragement and understanding, and for everything you have done for me. Dennis Lanbo Wei, my son, my sunshine and lovely daughter, Sarah Wei, for your love, happy smiles, and support.

## **6 REFERENCES**

**Adams J,** Palombella VJ, Sausville EA, Johnson J, Destree A, Lazarus DD, Maas J, Pien CS, Prakash S, Elliott PJ. Proteasome inhibitors: a novel class of potent and effective antitumor agents. Cancer Res. 1999; 59(11):2615-2622.

Adams VI, Unni KK, Muhm JR, Jett JR, Ilstrup DM, Bernatz PE. Diffuse malignant mesothelioma of pleura. Diagnosis and survival in 92 cases. Cancer. 1986; 58:1540.

**Ahamad A**, Stevens CW, Smythe WR, Liao Z, Vaporciyan AA, Rice D, Walsh G, Guerrero T, Chang J, Bell B, Komaki R, Forster KM: Promising early local control of malignant pleural mesothelioma following postoperative intensity modulated radiotherapy (IMRT) to the chest. Cancer J. 2003; 9(6):476-84

**Albelda SM.** Gene therapy for lung cancer and mesothelioma. Chest. 1997; 111(6 Suppl):144S-149S.

**Arnér ES**, Nakamura H, Sasada T, Yodoi J, Holmgren A, Spyrou G. Analysis of the inhibition of mammalian thioredoxin, thioredoxin reductase, and glutaredoxin by cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (II) and its major metabolite, the glutathione-platinum complex. Free Radic Biol Med. 2001; 31, 1170-1178

**Ault JG**, Cole RW, Jensen CG, Jensen LC, Bachert LA, Rieder CL. Behavior of crocidolite asbestos during mitosis in living vertebrate lung epithelial cells. Cancer Res. 1995; 55:792-798.

**Baas P**, Schouwink H, Zoetmulder FAN. Malignant pleural mesothelioma. Ann Oncol. 1998; 9:139-149.

**Barrett JC**, Lamb PW, Wiseman RW. Multiple mechanisms for the carcinogenic effects of asbestos and other mineral fibers. Environ Health Perspect. 1989; 81:81

**Baser ME**, De Rienzo A, Altomare D, Balsara BR, Hedrick NM, Gutmann DH, Pitts LH, Jackler RK, Testa JR. Neurofibromatosis 2 and malignant mesothelioma. Neurology. 2002; 59(2):290-291.

**Becker K**, Gromer S, Schirmer RH, Müller S. Thioredoxin reductase as a pathophysiological factor and drug target. Eur. J. Biochem. 2000; 267, 6118-6125.

**Bianchi AB**, Mitsunaga SI, Cheng JQ, Klein WM, Jhanwar SC, Seizinger B, Kley N, Klein-Szanto, A.J.P., Testa JR. High frequency of inactivating mutations in the neurofibromatosis type 2 gene (NF2) in primary malignant mesotheliomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995; 92(24):10854-10858.

**Bieche I,** Laurendeau I, Tozlu S, Olivi M, Vidaud D, Lidereau R, Vidaud M. Quantitation of MYC gene expression in sporadic breast tumors with a real-time reverse transcription-PCR assay. Cancer Res. 1999; 59(12):2759-2765.

**Bignon J**. Overview of current issues with respect to mesothelioma. Eur Respir Rev. 1993; 3: 12-17.

**Björnstedt M**, Kumar S, Bjorkhem L, Spyrou G, Holmgren A. Selenium and the thioredoxin and glutaredoxin systems. Biomed Environ Sci. 1997; 10(2-3):271-279.

**Bolen JW**, Hammar SP, McNutt MA. Reactive and neoplastic serosal tissue: A light-microscopic, ultrastructural and immunocytochemical study. Am J surg Pathol. 1986; 10:34-47.

**Borst P**, Evers R, Kool M, Wijnholds J. A family of drug transporters: the multidrug resistance-associated proteins. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000; 92:1295–1302

**Boutin C**, Dumortier P, Rey F, Viallat JR, De Vuyst P. Black spots concentrate oncogenic asbestos fibers in the parietal pleura. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1996; 153:444-449.

**Britton M**. The epidemiology of mesothelioma. Seminars in. Oncol. 2002; 29: 18-25.

**Brockstedt U**, Gulyas M, Dobra K, Dejmek A, Hjerpe A. An optimized battery of eight antibodies that can distinguish most cases of epithelial mesothelioma from adenocarcinoma. Am J Clin Pathol. 2000; 114(2):203-209.

**Budihardjo I**, Oliver H, Lutter M, Luo X, Wang X. Biochemical pathways of caspase activation during apoptosis. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. 1999; 15:269-90.

**Cai YC**, Roggli V, Mark E, Cagle PT, Fraire AE. Transforming growth factor alpha and epidermal growth factor receptor in reactive and malignant mesothelial proliferations. Arch Pathol Lab Med. 2004; 128(1):68-70.

**Cao XX**, Mohuiddin I, Ece F, McConkey DJ, Smythe WR. Histone deacetylase inhibitor downregulation of bcl-xl gene expression leads to apoptotic cell death in mesothelioma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2001; 25(5):562-568.

**Carbone M,** Fisher S, Powers A, Pass HI, Rizzo P. New molecular and epidemiological issues in mesothelioma: role of SV40. J Cell Physiol. 1999; 180:167-172.

**Carbone M**, Pass HI, Rizzo P, Marinetti M, Di Muzio M, Mew DJ, Levine AS, Procopio A. Simian virus 40-like DNA sequences in human pleural mesothelioma. Oncogene 1994; 9(6):1781-1790.

**Carbone M**, Rizzo P, Grimley PM, Procopio A, Mew DJ, Shridhar V, de Bartolomeis A, Esposito V, Giuliano MT, Steinberg SM, Levine AS, Giordano A, Pass HI. Simian virus-40 large-T antigen bind p53 in human mesotheliomas. Nat Med. 1997; 3(8):908-912.

**Carella R**, Deleonardi G, D'Errico A, Salerno A, Egarter-Vigl E, Seebacher C, Donazzan G, Grigioni WF. Immunohistochemical panels for differentiating epithelial malignant mesothelioma from lung adenocarcinoma: a study with logistic regression analysis. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001; 25(1):43-50.

**Ceresoli GL**, Locati LD, Ferreri AJ, Cozzarini C, Passoni P, Melloni G, Zannini P, Bolognesi A, Villa E. Therapeutic outcome according to histologic subtype in 121 patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma. Lung Cancer. 2001; 34 (2):279-287.

**Chahinian AP**, Pajak TF, Holland JF, Norton L, Ambinder RM, Mandel EM. Diffuse malignant mesothelioma. Prospective evaluation of 69 patients. Ann Intern Med. 1982; 96(6 Pt 1):746-755.

**Cheng JQ**, Jhanwar SC, Klein WM, Bell DW, Lee WC, Altomare DA, Nobori T, Olopade OI, Buckler AJ, Testa JR. p16 alterations and deletion mapping of 9p21-p22 in malignant mesothelioma. Cancer Res. 1994; 54:5547-5551.

**Chiarle R**, Budel LM, Skolnik J, Frizzera G, Chilosi M, Corato A, Pizzolo G, Magidson J, Montagnoli A, Pagano M, Maes B, De Wolf-Peeters C, Inghirami G. Increased proteasome degradation of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27 is associated with a decreased overall survival in mantle cell lymphoma. Blood. 2000; 95(2):619-626.

**Cicala C**, Pompetti F, Carbone M. SV40 induces mesothleiomas in hamsters. Am J Pathol. 1993, 142:1524-1533.

**Ciechanover A**. The ubiquitin-proteasome proteolytic pathway. Cell. 1994; 79(1):13-21.

**Cote RJ**, Jhanwar SC, Novick S, Pellicer A. Genetic alterations of the p53 gene are a feature of malignant mesotheliomas. Cancer Res. 1991; 51(19): 5410-5416.

**Craighead JE**, Mossman BT. The pathogenesis of asbestos-associated diseases. N Engl J Med. 1982; 306:1446-1455.

**Cusack JC Jr**, Liu R, Houston M, Abendroth K, Elliott PJ, Adams J, Baldwin AS Jr. Enhanced chemosensitivity to CPT-11 with proteasome inhibitor PS-341: implications for systemic nuclear factor-kappaB inhibition. Cancer Res. 2001; 61(9):3535-3540.

**Davidson B**, Nielsen S, Christensen J, Asschenfeldt P, Berner A, Risberg B, Johansen P. The role of desmin and N-cadherin in effusion cytology: a comparative study using established markers of mesothelial and epithelial cells. Am J Surg Pathol. 2001; 25:1405-1412.

**De Luca A**, Baldi A, Esposito V, Howard CM, Bagella L, Rizzo P, Caputi M, Pass HI, Giordano GG, Baldi F, Carbone M, Giordano A. The retinoblastoma gene family pRb/p105, p107, pRb2/p130 and simian virus-40 large T-antigen in human mesotheliomas. Nat Med. 1997; 3(8):913-916.

**Dejmek A**, Brockstedt U, Hjerpe A. Immunoreactivity of pleural malignant mesotheliomas to glutathione S-transferases. APMIS. 1998; 106(4):489-494.

**Dejmek A**, Hjerpe A. Immunohistochemical reactivity in mesothelioma and adenocarcinoma: a stepwise logistic regression analysis. APMIS. 1994; 102(4):255-264.

**Dejmek A**, Strömberg C, Wikström B, Hjerpe A.: Prognostic importance of the DNA ploidy pattern in malignant mesothelioma of the pleura. Analytical and Quantitative Cytology and Histology. 1992; 14:217-221.

**Diatchenko L**, Lau YF, Campbell AP, Chenchik A, Moqadam F, Huang B, Lukyanov S, Lukyanov K, Gurskaya N, Sverdlov ED, Siebert PD. Suppression subtractive hybridization: a method for generating differentially regulated or tissuespecific cDNA probes and libraries. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1996; 93(12):6025-6030.

**Ellis H**, Harrison W, Hugh RB. The healing of peritoneum under normal and pathological conditions. Br J Surg. 1965; 52:471-476.

**Fadeel B**, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B. Apoptosis in human disease: a new skin for the old ceremony? Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999; 266(3):699-717.

**Fink L**, Seeger W, Ermert L, Hanze J, Stahl U, Grimminger F, Kummer W, Bohle RM. Real-time quantitative RT-PCR after laser-assisted cell picking. Nat Med. 1998; 4(11):1329-1333.

**Foss DL**, Baarsch MJ, Murtaugh MP. Regulation of hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase and β-actin mRNA expression in porcine immune cells and tissues. Anim. Biotechnol. 1998; 9:67–78.

**Fotev Z**, Whitaker D, Papadimitriou JM. Role of macrophages in mesothelial healing. J. Path. 1987; 151:209-219.

**Frizelle SP**, Grim J, Zhou J, Gupta P, Curiel DT, Geradts J, Kratzke RA. Reexpression of p16INK4a in mesothelioma cells results in cell cycle arrest, cell death, tumor suppression and tumor regression. Oncogene. 1998; 16(24):3087-3095. **Fusco V**, Ardizzoni A, Merlo F, Cinquegrana A, Faravelli B, De Palma M, Chessa L, Nicolo G, Serra M, Capaccio A, et al. Malignant pleural mesothelioma. Multivariate analysis of prognostic factors on 113 patients. Anticancer Res. 1993; 13(3):683-689.

**Gabrielson EW**, Lechner JF, Gerwin BI, et al. Growth factors for mesothelial and mesothelioma cells. Chest. 1987; 91:17S.

**Gallegos A**, Raffel J, Bhattacharyya AK, Powis G. Increased expression of thioredoxin in human primary and metastatic colon cancer. Am Ass Cancer Res. 2000; 41:189.

**Ganten TM**, Koschny R, Haas TL, Sykora J, Li-Weber M, Herzer K, Walczak H. Proteasome inhibition sensitizes hepatocellular carcinoma cells, but not human hepatocytes, to TRAIL. Hepatology. 2005 Jul 21. [Epub ahead of print]

**Geradts J,** Kratzke RA, Niehans GA, Lincoln CE. Immunohistochemical detection of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2/multiple tumor suppressor gene 1 (CDKN2/MTS1) product p16INK4A in archival human solid tumors: correlation with retinoblastoma protein expression. Cancer Res. 1995; 55(24):6006-6011.

**Gerwin BI**, Lechner JF, Reddel RR, Roberts AB, Robbins KC, Gabrielson EW, Harris CC. Comparson of production of transforming growth factor-beta and plateletderived growth factor by normal human mesothelial cells and mesothelioma cell lines. Cancer Res. 1987; 47(23):6180-6184.

**Gibas Z**, Li FP, Antman KH, Bernal S, Stahel R, Sandberg AA. Chromosome changes in malignant mesothelioma. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 1986; 20(3-4):191-201.

**Gibson UE**, Heid CA, Williams PM. A novel method for real time quantitative RT-PCR. Genome Res. 1996; 6(10):995-1001.

**Giuliano M**, Catalano A, Strizzi L, Vianale G, Capogrossi M, Procopio A. Adenovirus-mediated wild-type p53 overexpression reverts tumourigenicity of human mesothelioma cells. Int J Mol Med. 2000; 5(6):591-596.

**Gonzalez IL**, Gorski JL, Campen TJ, Dorney DJ, Erickson JM, Sylvester JE, Schmickel RD. Variation among human 28S ribosomal RNA genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. Genetics. 1985; 82:7666-7670.

**Gordon GJ**, Appasani K, Parcells JP, Mukhopadhyay NK, Jaklitsch MT, Richards WG, Sugarbaker DJ, Bueno R. Inhibitor of apoptosis protein-1 promotes tumor cell survival in mesothelioma. Carcinogenesis. 2002; 23(6):1017-1024.

**Green MR**. The evolving role of gemcitabine and pemetrexed (alimta) in the management of patients with malignant mesothelioma. Clin Lung Cancer. 2002; 3 Suppl 1:S26-29

**Grogan TM**, Fenoglio-Prieser C, Zeheb R, Bellamy W, Frutiger Y, Vela E, Stemmerman G, Macdonald J, Richter L, Gallegos A, Powis G. Thioredoxin, a putative oncogene product, is overexpressed in gastric carcinoma and associated with increased proliferation and increased cell survival. Human Pathol. 2000; 31:475-481.

**Gulyas M**, Dobra K, Hjerpe A. Expression of genes coding for proteoglycans and Wilms' tumor susceptibility gene 1 (WT1) by variously differentiated benign human mesothelial cells. Differentiation, 1999; 65:89-96.

**Gurskaya NG**, Diatchenko L, Chenchik A, Siebert PD, Khaspekov GL, Lukyanov KA, Vagner LL, Ermolaeva OD, Lukyanov SA, Sverdlov ED. Equalizing cDNA subtraction based on selective suppression of polymerase chain reaction: cloning of Jurkat cell transcripts induced by phytohemaglutinin and phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate. Anal Biochem. 1996; 240(1):90-97.

**Haase VH**, Trofatter JA, MacCollin M, Tarttelin E, Gusella JF, Ramesh V. The murine NF2 homologue encodes a highly conserved merlin protein with alternative forms. Hum Mol Genet. 1994; 3(3):407-411.

Hammar SP, McNutt MA. Serosal tissue: reactive tissue as a model for understanding mesotheliomas. Ultrastruct Pathol. 1987; 11:251-262

Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell. 2000; 100(1):57-70.

**Heid CA**, Stevens J, Livak KJ, Williams PM. Real time quantitative PCR. Genome Res. 1996; 6(10):986-994.

**Heintz NH**, Janssen YM, Mossman BT. Persistent induction of c-fos and c-jun expression by asbestos. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1993; 90:3299-3303.

**Hideshima T**, Chauhan D, Podar K, Schlossman RL, Richardson P, Anderson KC. Novel therapies targeting the myeloma cell and its bone marrow microenvironment. Semin Oncol. 2001; 28(6):607-612.

**Hjerpe A**.: Liquid-chromatographic determination of hyaluronic acid in pleural and ascitic fluids. Clin. Chem. 1986; 32:952-956

**Hochstrasser M**. Ubiquitin, proteasomes, and the regulation of intracellular protein degradation. Curr Opin Cell Biol. 1995; 7(2):215-223.

**Holmgren A**, Björnstedt M. Thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase. Methods Enzymol. 1995; 252:199-208.

**Isobe H**, Wellham L, Sauerteig A, Sridhar KS, Ramachandran C, Krishan A. Doxorubicin retention and chemoresistance in human mesothelioma cell lines. Int J Cancer. 1994; 57(4):581-585.

**Jaklitsch MT**, Grondin SC, Sugarbaker DJ. Treatment of malignant mesothelioma. World Journal of Surgery. 2001; 25 (2):210-217.

**Jarvinen K**, Soini Y, Kahlos K, Kinnula VL. Overexpression of gammaglutamylcysteine synthetase in human malignant mesothelioma. Hum Pathol. 2002; 33(7):748-755.

**Jentsch S**, Schlenker S. Selective protein degradation: a journey's end within the proteasome. Cell. 1995; 82(6):881-884.

**Jimenez A,** Zu W, Rawe VY, Pelto-Huikko M, Flickinger CJ, Sutovsky P, Gustafsson JA, Oko R, Miranda-Vizuete A. Spermatocyte/Spermatid-specific Thioredoxin-3, a Novel Golgi Apparatus-associated Thioredoxin, Is a Specific Marker of Aberrant Spermatogenesis. J Biol Chem. 2004; 279(33): 34971 - 34982.

**Johansson L**, Linden CJ. Aspects of histopathologic subtype as a prognostic factor in 85 pleural mesotheliomas. Chest. 1996; 109(1):109-114.

**Joza N**, Susin SA, Daugas E, Stanford WL, Cho SK, Li CY, Sasaki T, Elia AJ, Cheng HY, Ravagnan L, Ferri KF, Zamzami N, Wakeham A, Hakem R, Yoshida H, Kong YY, Mak TW, Zuniga-Pflucker JC, Kroemer G, Penninger JM. Essential role of the mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor in programmed cell death. Nature. 2001; 410(6828):549-554.

**Kahlos K**, Anttila S, Asikainen T, Kinnula K, Raivio KO, Mattson K, Linnainmaa K, Kinnula VL. Manganese superoxide dismutase in healthy human pleural mesothelium and in malignant pleural mesothelioma. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 1998; 18(4):570-580.

**Kahlos K**, Soini Y, Paakko P, Saily M, Linnainmaa K, Kinnula VL. Proliferation, apoptosis, and manganese superoxide dismutase in malignant mesothelioma. Int J Cancer. 2000; 88(1):37-43.

**Kahlos K**, Soini Y, Saily M, Koistinen P, Kakko S, Paakko P, Holmgren A, Kinnula VL. Up-regulation of thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase in human malignant pleural mesothelioma. Int J Cancer. 2001; 95(3):198-204.

**Kahlos K**, Soini Y, Sormunen R, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Paakko P, Linnainmaa K, Kinnula VL. Expression and prognostic significance of catalase in malignant mesothelioma. Cancer. 2001; 91(7):1349-1357.

**Kakolyris S**, Giatromanolaki A, Koukourakis M, Powis G, Souglakos J, Sivridis E, Georgoulias V, Gatter KC, Harris AL. Thioredoxin expression associates with lymph node status and prognosis in early operable non small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Clin Cancer Res. 2001; 7:3087-3091.

**Karamanos NK**, Hjerpe A: High-performance capillary electrophoretic analysis of hyaluronan in effusions from human malignant mesothelioma. J Chromatogr B. 1997; 697:277-281.

**Kawai T**, Suzuki M, Kageyama K: Reactive mesothelial cell and mesothelioma of the pleura. Virch Arch (Pathol Anat). 1981; 393:251-263.

**Kettunen E**, Nissen AM, Ollikainen T, Taavitsainen M, Tapper J, Mattson K, Linnainmaa K, Knuutila S, El-Rifai W. Gene expression profiling of malignant mesothelioma cell lines: cDNA array study. Int J Cancer. 2001; 91(4):492-496.

**Kho-Duffin J,** Tao LC, Cramer H, Catellier MJ, Irons D, Ng P. Cytologic diagnosis of malignant mesothelioma, with particular emphasis on the epithelial noncohesive cell type. Diagnostic Cytopathology. 1999; 20(2):57-62.

**Kinnula K**, Linnainmaa K, Raivio KO, Kinnula VL. Endogenous antioxidant enzymes and glutathione S-transferase in protection of mesothelioma cells against hydrogen peroxide and epirubicin toxicity. Br J Cancer. 1998; 77(7):1097-1102.

**Kinnula VL**, Crapo JD. Superoxide dismutases in malignant cells and human tumors. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 2004; 36:718-744.

**Kinnula VL**, Crapo JD. Superoxide dismutases in the lung and human lung diseases. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 2003; 167:1600-1619

**Kinnula VL**, Pietarinen-Runtti P, Raivio KO, Kahlos K, Pelin K, Mattson K, Linnainmaa K. Manganese superoxide dismutase in human pleural mesothelioma cell lines. Free Rad. Biol. Med 1996; 21: 527-532

**Klominek J**, Robert KH, Hjerpe A, Wickström B, Gahrton G. Serum-dependent growth patterns of two, newly established human mesothelioma cell lines, Cancer Res. 1989; 49: 6118-6122.

**Kratzke RA**, Otterson GA, Lincoln CE, Ewing S, Oie H, Geradts J, Kaye FJ. Immunohistochemical analysis of the p16INK4 cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor in malignant mesothelioma. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1995; 87(24):1870-1875.

**Kudo Y**, Takata T, Ogawa I, Kaneda T, Sato S, Takekoshi T, Zhao M, Miyauchi M, Nikai H. p27Kip1 accumulation by inhibition of proteasome function induces apoptosis in oral squamous cell carcinoma cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2000; 6(3):916-923.

**Kudoh T**, Ishidte T, Moriyama M, Toyoshima K, Akiyama T. G1 phase arrest induced by Wilms tumor protein WT1 is abrogated by cyclin/CDK complexes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1995; 92:4517-4521.

**Kwee WS**, Veldhuizen RW, Alons CA, Morawetz F, Boon ME. Quantitative and qualitative differences between benign and malignant mesothelial cells in pleural fluid. Acta Cytol. 1982; 26:401-406 (b).

**Lanfrancone L,** Boraschi D, Ghiara P, Falini B, Grignani F, Peri G, Mantovani A, Pelicci PG. Human peritoneal mesothelial cells produce many cytokines (granulocyte colony-stimulating factor/CSF/, granulocyte-monocyte-CSF, macrophage-CSF, interleukin-1/IL-1/, and IL-6) and are activated and stimulated to grow by IL-1. Blood. 1992; 80:2835-2842.

**Law MR**, Gregor A, Hodson ME, Bloom HJ, Turner-Warwick M. Malignant mesothelioma of the pleura: a study of 52 treated and 64 untreated patients. Thorax. 1984; 39(4):255-259.

Lee KW, Yun T, Song EK, Na II, Shin H, Bang SM, Lee JH, Lee ST, Kim JH, Yoon SS, Lee JS, Park S, Kim BK, Kim NK. A pilot study of bortezomib in korean patients with relapsed or refractory myeloma. J Korean Med Sci. 2005; 20(4):598-562.

**Lee TC**, Zhang Y, Aston C, Hintz R, Jagirdar J, Perle MA, Burt M, Rom WN. Normal human mesothelial cells and mesothelioma cell lines express insulin-like growth factor I and associated molecules. Cancer Res. 1993; 53(12):2858-2864.

Li B, Dou QP. Bax degradation by the ubiquitin/proteasome-dependent pathway: involvement in tumor survival and progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000; 97:3850-3855.

**Litz J**, Sakuntala Warahamana-Greene G, Sulanke G, Lipson KE, krystal GW. The multi-targeted kinase inhibitor SU5416 inhibits small cell lung cancer growth and angiogenesis, in part by blocking Kit-mediated VEGF expression. Lung Cancer. 2004; 46(3):283-291.

Liu W, Bodle E, Chen JY, Gao M, Rosen GD, Broaddus VC. Tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand and chemotherapy cooperate to induce apoptosis in mesothelioma cell lines. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2001; 25(1):111-118.

**Maheswaran S,** Park S, Bernard A, Morris JF, Rauscher FJ, Hill DE, Haber DA. Physical and functional interaction between WT1 and p53 proteins. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA. 1993; 90:5100-5104.

**Marten NW**, Burke EJ, Hayden JM, Straus DS. Effect of amino acid limitation on the expression of 19 genes in rat hepatoma cells. FASEB J. 1994; 8: 538–544.

**Masdehors P**, Merle-Beral H, Maloum K, Omura S, Magdelenat H, Delic J. Deregulation of the ubiquitin system and p53 proteolysis modify the apoptotic response in B-CLL lymphocytes. Blood. 2000; 96(1):269-274.

**Metcalf RA**, Welsh JA, Bennett WP, Seddon MB, Lehman TA, Pelin K, Linnainmaa K, Tammilehto L, Mattson K, Gerwin BI, et al. p53 and Kirsten-ras mutations in human mesothelioma cell lines. Cancer Res. 1992; 52(9):2610-2615.

**Mohr S**, Bottin MC, Lannes B, Neuville A, Bellocq JP, Keith G, Rihn BH. Microdissection, mRNA amplification and microarray: a study of pleural mesothelial and malignant mesothelioma cells. Biochimie. 2004; 86(1):13-19.

**Mohr S**, Keith G, Galateau-Salle F, Icard P, Rihn BH. Cell protection, resistance and invasiveness of two malignant mesotheliomas as assessed by 10K-microarray. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2004; 1688(1):43-60.

**Mohr S**, Leikauf GD, Keith G, Rihn BH. Microarray as cancer keys: an array of possibilities. J Clin Oncol. 2002; 20:3165-3175

**Morrison T,** Weis JJ, Wittwer CT. Quantification of low-copy transcripts by continuous SYBR Green I monitoring during amplification. Biotechniques. 1998; 24: 954–962.

**Mossman BT**, Bignon J, Corn M, Seaton A, Gee JB. Asbestos: scientific developments and implications for public policy. Science. 1990; 247(4940):294-301.

**Mossman BT**, Kamp DW, Weitzman SA. Mechanisms of carcinogenesis and clinical features of asbestos-associated cancers. Cancer Invest. 1996; 14:466-480.

**Mouriquand J**, Mouriquand C, Petitpas E, Mermet MA, Augusseau S, Paramelle B. Short and long term behaviour of pleural effusion cultures. Pathol Biol. 1977; 25(1):15-21.

**Mutsaers SE**, McAnulty RJ, Laurent GJ, Vernel MA, Whitaker D, Papadimitriou JM. Cytokine regulation of mesothelial cell proliferation in vitro and in vivo. Eur. J. Cell Biol. 1997; 72:24-29.

**Mutsaers SE**, Whitaker D, Papadimitriou JM. Mesothelial regeneration is not dependent on subserosal cells. J Pathol. 2000; 190:86-92.

**Mutsaers SE**. Mesothelial cells: Their structure, function and role in serosal repair. Respirology. 2002; 7: 171-191.

**Nakamura H**, Bai J, Nishinaka Y, Ueda S, Sasada T, Ohshio G, Imamura M, Takabayashi A, Yamaoka Y, Yodoi J. Expression of thioredoxin and glutaredoxin, redox-regulating proteins, in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Detect Prevent. 2000; 24:53-60.

**Narasimhan SR**, Yang L, Gerwin BI, Broaddus VC. Resistance of pleural mesothelioma cell lines to apoptosis: relation to expression of Bcl-2 and Bax. Am J Physiol. 1998; 275(1 Pt 1):L165-171.

**Ni H**, Ergin M, Huang Q, Qin JZ, Amin HM, Martinez RL, Saeed S, Barton K, Alkan S. Analysis of expression of nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kappa B) in multiple myeloma: downregulation of NF-kappa B induces apoptosis. Br J Haematol. 2001;115(2):279-286.

**Nicholson WJ**, Perkel G, Selikoff IJ. Occupational exposure to asbestos: population at risk and projected mortality-1980-2030. Am J Indust Med. 1982; 3:259.

**Nurminen M**, Dejmek A, Martensson G, Thylen A, Hjerpe A. Clinical utility of liquid-chromatographic analysis of effusions for hyaluronate content. Clin Chem. 1994; 40(5):777-780.

**Ogretmen B**, Bahadori HR, McCauley MD, Boylan A, Green MR, Safa AR. Coordinated over-expression of the MRP and gamma-glutamylcysteine synthetase genes,

but not MDR1, correlates with doxorubicin resistance in human malignant mesothelioma cell lines. Int J Cancer. 1998; 75(5):757-761.

**Ong ST**, Vogelzang NJ. Chemotherapy in malignant pleural mesothelioma: a review. J Clin Oncol. 1996; 14:1007-1017.

**Orlowski RZ**, Baldwin AS. NF-kappaB as a therapeutic target in cancer. Trends Mol Med. 2002; 8(8):385-389.

**Orlowski RZ,** Eswara JR, Lafond-Walker A, Grever MR, Orlowski M, Dang CV. Tumor growth inhibition induced in a murine model of human Burkitt's lymphoma by a proteasome inhibitor. Cancer Res. 1998; 58(19):4342-4348.

**Orlowski RZ**, Stinchcombe TE, Mitchell BS, Shea TC, Baldwin AS, Stahl S, Adams J, Esseltine DL, Elliott PJ, Pien CS, Guerciolini R, Anderson JK, Depcik-Smith ND, Bhagat R, Lehman MJ, Novick SC, O'Connor OA, Soignet SL. Phase I trial of the proteasome inhibitor PS-341 in patients with refractory hematologic malignancies. J Clin Oncol. 2002; 20(22):4420-4427.

**Ozvaran MK**, Cao XX, Miller SD, Monia BA, Hong WK, Smythe WR. Antisense oligonucleotides directed at the bcl-xl gene product augment chemotherapy response in mesothelioma. Mol Cancer Ther. 2004; 3(5):545-550.

**Palmero I**, Murga M, Zubiaga A, Serrano M. Activation of ARF by oncogenic stress in mouse fibroblasts is independent of E2F1 and E2F2. Oncogene. 2002; 21(19):2939-2947.

**Palmero I**, Pantoja C, Serrano M. p19ARF links the tumour suppressor p53 to Ras. Nature. 1998; 395(6698):125-126

**Papandreou CN**, Logothetis CJ. Bortezomib as a Potential Treatment for Prostate Cancer. Cancer Res. 2004; 64(15): 5036-5043.

**Park S**, Schalling M, Bernard A, Maheswaran S, Sipley GC, Roberts D, Fletcher J, shipman R, Rheinwald J, Demetri G, Minden M, Housman DE, Haber DA. The Wilms tumour gene WT1 is expressed in murine mesoderm-derived tissues and mutated in a human mesothelioma. Nat Genet. 1993; 4(4):415-420.

**Pass H**, Rizzo P, Donington J, Wu P, Carbone M. Further validation of SV40-like DNA in human pleural mesotheliomas. Dev Biol Stand. 1998; 94:143-145

**Peralta Soler A**, Knudsen KA, Jaurand MC, Johnson KR, Wheelock MJ, Klein-Szanto AJ, Salazar H. The differental expression of N-cadherin and E-cadherin distinguishes pleural mesotheliomas from lung adenocarcinomas. Hum Pathol. 1995; 26:1363-1369.

**Peto J**, Decarli A, La Vecchia C, Levi F, Negri E. The European mesothelioma epidemic. Br J Cancer. 1999; 79(3-4):666-72.

**Petursdottir TE**, Thorsteinsdottir U, Jonasson JG, Moller PH, Huiping C, Bjornsson J, Egilsson V, Imreh S, Ingvarsson S. Interstitial deletions including chromosome 3 common eliminated region 1 (C3CER1) prevail in human solid tumors from 10 different tissues. Genes Chromosomes Cancer. 2004; 41: 232–242.

**Pfaffl MW**. Development and validation of an externally standardised quantitative insulin like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) RT–PCR using LightCycler SYBR<sup>®</sup> Green I technology. In Meuer,S., Wittwer,C. and Nakagawara,K. (eds), Rapid Cycle Real-time PCR, Methods and Applications. Springer Press, Heidelberg, Germany. 2001, pp. 281–291.

**Popescu NC**, Chahinian AP, DiPaolo JA. Nonrandom chromosome alterations in human malignant mesothelioma. Cancer Res. 1988; 48(1):142-147.

**Priftakis P**, Bogdanovic G, Hjerpe A, Dalianis T: Presence of simian virus 40 (SV40) is not frequent in Swedish malignant mesotheliomas. Anticancer Res. 2002; 23(3): 1357-1360.

**Qian DZ**, Wang X, Kachhap SK, Kato Y, Wei Y, Zhang L, Atadja P, Pili R. The histone deacetylase inhibitor NVP-LAQ824 inhibits angiogenesis and has a greater antitumor effect in combination with the vascular endothelial growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor PTK787/ZK222584. Cancer Res. 2004; 64(18):6626-6634.

**Qin JZ**, Ziffra J, Stennett L, Bodner B, Bonish BK, Chaturvedi V, Bennett F, Pollock PM, Trent JM, Hendrix MJ, Rizzo P, Miele L, Nickoloff BJ. Proteasome inhibitors trigger NOXA-mediated apoptosis in melanoma and myeloma cells. Cancer Res. 2005; 65(14):6282-6293.

**Raftery AT**. Regeneration of parietal and visceral peritoneum. A light microscopical study. Br J Surg. 1973; 60:293-299.

**Rehman I**, Cross SS, Azzouzi AR, Catto JW, Deloulme JC, Larre S, Champigneuille J, Fromont G, Cussenot O, Hamdy FC. S100A6 (Calcyclin) is a prostate basal cell marker absent in prostate cancer and its precursors. Br J Cancer. 2004; 91(4):739-744.

**Reis-Filho JS,** Pope LZ, Milanezi F, Balderrama CM, Serapiao MJ, Schmitt FC. Primary epithelial malignant mesothelioma of the pericardium with deciduoid features: cytohistologic and immunohistochemical study. Diagn Cytopathol. 2002; 26(2):117-122.

**Richardson PG**, Barlogie B, Berenson J, Singhal S, Jagannath S, Irwin D, Rajkumar SV, Srkalovic G, Alsina M, Alexanian R, Siegel D, Orlowski RZ, Kuter D, Limentani SA, Lee S, Hideshima T, Esseltine DL, Kauffman M, Adams J, Schenkein DP, Anderson KC. A phase 2 study of bortezomib in relapsed, refractory myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2003; 348(26):2609-2617.

**Richardson PG**, Hideshima T, Mitsiades C, Anderson K. Proteasome inhibition in hematologic malignancies. Ann Med. 2004; 36(4):304-314.

**Roberts GH**. Diffuse pleural mesothelioma: a clinical pathological study. Br J Dis Chest 1970; 64:201.

**Russo SM**, Tepper JE, Baldwin AS Jr, Liu R, Adams J, Elliott P, Cusack JC Jr. Enhancement of radiosensitivity by proteasome inhibition: implications for a role of NF-kappaB. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2001; 50(1):183-193.

**Ryan CW**, Herndon J, Vogelzang NJ. A review of chemotherapy trials for malignant mesothelioma. Chest. 1998; 113(1 Suppl):66S-73S.

**Sadler TW**: Langman's medical embryology (5<sup>th</sup> edition). Williams & Wilkins. Baltimore, 1985; pp. 154-164.

**Salvat C**, Aquaviva C, Jariel-Encontre I, Ferrara P, Pariat M, Steff AM, Carillo S, Piechaczyk M. Are there multiple proteolytic pathways contributing to c-Fos, c-Jun and p53 protein degradation in vivo? Mol Biol Rep. 1999; 26(1-2):45-51.

**Schaefer KL,** Wai DH, Poremba C, Korsching E, van Valen F, Ozaki T, Boecker W, Dockhorn-Dworniczak B. Characterization of the malignant melanoma of soft-parts cell line GG-62 by expression analysis using DNA microarrays. Virchows Arch. 2002; 440(5):476-84.

**Schena M**, Shalon D, Davis RW, Brown PO. Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. Science. 1995; 270(5235):467-470.

**Schildge J**, Kaiser D, Henss H, Fiebig H, Ortlieb H. Prognostic factors in diffuse malignant mesothelioma of the pleura. Pneumologie. 1989; 43(11):660-664.

**Schutte B**, Ramaekers FC. Molecular switches that govern the balance between proliferation and apoptosis. Prog Cell Cycle Res. 2000; 4:207-217.

**Serrano M**, Hannon GJ, Beach D. A new regulatory motif in cell-cycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclin D/CDK4. Nature. 1993; 366(6456):704-707.

**Shi Y**, Hu W, Yin F, Sun L, Liu C, Lan M, Fan D. Regulation of drug sensitivity of gastric cancer cells by human calcyclin-binding protein (CacyBP). Gastric Cancer. 2004; 7(3):160-166.

**Simsir A**, Fetsch P, Mehta D, Zakowski M, Abati A. E-cadherin, N-cadherin, and calretinin in pleural effusions: the good, the bad, the worthless. Diagn Cytopathol. 1999; 20:125-130.

**Smythe WR**, Mohuiddin I, Ozveran M, Cao XX. Antisense therapy for malignant mesothelioma with oligonucleotides targeting the bcl-xl gene product. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2002; 123(6):1191-1198.

**Soini Y**, Jarvinen K, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Kinnula V. The expression of P-glycoprotein and multidrug resistance proteins 1 and 2 (MRP1 and MRP2) in human malignant mesothelioma. Ann Oncol. 2001; 12(9):1239-1245.

**Soini Y**, Kinnula V, Kaarteenaho-Wiik R, Kurttila E, Linnainmaa K, Paakko P. Apoptosis and expression of apoptosis regulating proteins bcl-2, mcl-1, bcl-X, and bax in malignant mesothelioma. Clin Cancer Res. 1999; 5(11):3508-3515.

**Soligo D**, Servida F, Delia D, Fontanella E, Lamorte G, Caneva L, Fumiatti R, Lambertenghi Deliliers G. The apoptogenic response of human myeloid leukaemia cell lines and of normal and malignant haematopoietic progenitor cells to the proteasome inhibitor PSI. Br J Haematol. 2001; 113(1):126-135.

**Spyrou G**, Enmark E, Miranda-Vizuete A, Gustafsson JÅ. Cloning and expression of a novel mammalian thioredoxin. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:2936-2941.

**Stamat JC**, Chekan EG, Ali A, Ko A, Sporn TA, Eubanks WS. Laparoscopy and mesothelioma. J Laparoendosc Adv Surg Tech A. 1999; 9(5):433-437.

**Sterman DH**, Kaiser LR, Albelda SM. Advances in the treatment of malignant pleural mesothelioma. Chest. 1999; 116: 504-520.

**Stott FJ**, Bates S, James MC, McConnell BB, Starborg M, Palmero I, Ryan K, Hara E, Vousden KH, Peters G. The alternative product from the human CDKN2A locus, p14 (ARF), participates in regulatory feedback loop with p53 and MDM2. EMBO J. 1998, 17:5001-5014.

**Sugarbaker DJ**, Flores RM, Jaklitsch MT, Richards WG, Strauss GM, Corson JM, DeCamp MM Jr, Swanson SJ, Bueno R, Lukanich JM, Baldini EH, Mentzer SJ. Resection margins, extrapleural nodal status, and cell type determine postoperative long-term survival in trimodality therapy of malignant pleural mesothelioma: results in 183 patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 1999; 117(1):54-63.

**Sugarbaker DJ**, Zellos LS. Multimodality treatment of diffuse malignant mesotelioma. Seminars in Oncol. 2002; 29: 41-50.

**Sun QA**, Kirnarsky L, Sherman S, Gladyshev VN. Selenoprotein oxidoreductase with specificity for thioredoxin and glutathione systems. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2001; 98:3673-3678.

**Sun QA**, Wu Y, Zappacosta F, Jeang KT, Lee BJ, Hatfield DL, Gladyshev VN. J. Redox regulation of cell signaling by selenocysteine in mammalian thioredoxin reductases. J Biol Chem. 1999; 274(35):24522-24530.

**Suzuki Y**. Pathology of human malignant mesothelioma. Semin Oncol. 1980; 3:268.

**Testa JR**, Carbone M, Hirvonen A, Khalili K, Krynska B, Linnainmaa K, Pooley FD, Rizzo P, Rusch V, Xiao GH. A multi-institutional study confirms the presence and expression of simian virus 40 in human malignant mesotheliomas. Cancer Res. 1998; 58(20):4505-4509.

**Thellin O**, Zorzi W, Lakaye B, De Borman B, Coumans B, Hennen G, Grisar T, Igout A, Heinen E. Housekeeping genes as internal standards: use and limits. J Biotechnol. 1999; 75:291–295.

**Tiainen M**, Tammilehto L, Rautonen J, Tuomi T, Mattson K, Knuutila S. Chromosomal abnormalities and their correlations with asbestos exposure and survival in patients with mesothelioma. Br J Cancer 1989; 60(4):618-626.

**Treasure T**, Waller D, Swift S, and Peto J. Radical surgery for mesothelioma. BMJ. 2004; 328(7434):237-238.

**Trofatter JA**, MacCollin MM, Rutter JL, Murrell JR, Duyao MP, Parry DM, Eldridge R, Kley N, Menon AG, Pulaski K, et al. A novel moesin-, ezrin-, radixin-like gene is a candidate for the neurofibromatosis 2 tumor suppressor. Cell. 1993; 72(5):791-800.

**Wagner JC**, Sleggs CA, Marchand P: Diffuse pleural mesothelioma and asbestos exposure in the North Western Cape Province. Br J Ind Med. 1960; 17:260-271

**Waheed I**, Guo ZS, Chen GA, Weiser TS, Nguyen DM, Schrump DS. Antisense to SV40 early gene region induces growth arrest and apoptosis in T-antigen-positive human pleural mesothelioma cells. Cancer Res. 1999; 59(24):6068-6073.

**Walker C**, Rutten F, Yuan X, Pass H, Mew DM, Everitt J. Wilms' tumor suppressor gene expression in rat and mesothelioma. Cancer Res. 1994; 54(12):3101-3106.

**Wang CY**, Mayo M, Baldwin AS. TNF- and cancer therapy-induced apoptosis: potentiation by inhibition of NF-&B. Science. 1996; 274: 784-787.

**Warhol MJ**, Hickey WF, Corson JM. Malignant mesothelioma: ultrastructural distinction from adenocarcinoma. Am J Surg Pathol. 1982; 6(4):307-314.

**Warn R**, Harvey P, Warn A, Foley-Comer A, Heldin P, Versnel M, Arakaki N, Daikuhara Y, Laurent GJ, Herrick SE, Mutsaers SE. HGF/SF induces mesothelial cell migration and proliferation by autocrine and paracrine pathways. Exp Cell Res. 2001; 267:258-266.

Whitaker D, Papadimitriou JM. Mesothelial healing: Morphological and kinetic investigations. J Path. 1985; 145:159-175.

**Wirth PR**, Legier J, Wright GL Jr. Immunohistochemical evaluation of seven monoclonal antibodies for differentiation of pleural mesothelioma from lung adenocarcinoma. Cancer. 1991; 67(3):655-662.

**Witte AB**, Anestal K, Jerremalm E, Ehrsson H, Arner ES. Inhibition of thioredoxin reductase but not of glutathione reductase by the major classes of alkylating and platinum-containing anticancer compounds. Free Radic Biol Med. 2005; 39(5):696-703.

**Wong GH**, Goeddel DV. Induction of manganous superoxide dismutase by tumor necrosis factor: possible protective mechanism. Science. 1988; 242:941-944

**Yang CT**, You L, Lin YC, Lin CL, Mccormick F, Jablons DM. A comparison analysis of anti-tumor efficacy of adenoviral gene replacement therapy (p14ARF and p16INK4A) in human mesothelioma cells. Anticancer Res. 2003; 23(1A):33-38.

**Yang CT**, You L, Yeh CC, Chang JW, Zhang F, McCormick F, Jablons DM. Adenovirus-mediated p14(ARF) gene transfer in human mesothelioma cells. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000; 92(8): 636-641.

**Yashiro M**, Chung YS, Inoue T, Nishimura S, Matsuoka T, Fujihara T, Sowa M. Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) produced by peritoneal fibroblasts may affect mesothelial cell morphology and promote peritoneal dissemination. Int J Cancer. 1996; 67:289-293.